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that we do at TrustPower that provides 
us with the power to make big things 

happen. Everyday our teams work 
towards a common goal across every 

sector of our business allowing us 
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opportunities to grow now and
into the future.
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Who We Are

WE OWN 585MW OF HYDRO AND WIND GENERATION 
SPREAD THROUGHOUT NEW ZEALAND AS WELL AS THE 
99MW SNOWTOWN WIND FARM IN SOUTH AUSTRALIA.
These assets produce an average of 2,650 GWh per year. 
We supply electricity to around 225,000 customers and provide 
33,000 telecommunications services to 23,000 customers 
throughout New Zealand. We have 411 full time equivalent 
employees in New Zealand and two employees in Adelaide, 
Australia. Around 70% of our New Zealand employees are based 
in our Tauranga head offi ce.

 TrustPower Generation Assets

1 Kaimai

2 Matahina

3 Wheao/Flaxy

4 Hinemaiaia

5 Mangorei

6 Motukawa

7 Patea

8 Tararua Wind Farm

9 Cobb

10 Waihopai

11 Argyle/Wairau

12 Arnold

13 Kumara/Dillmans/Duffers

14 Kaniere Forks/McKays Creek

15 Coleridge

16 Highbank

17 Montalto

18 Wahapo

19 Paerau/Patearoa

20 Waipori/Deep Stream

 Retail Customers

1 Far North

2 Counties

3 Waipa

4 Central Waikato

5 Southern Thames Valley

6 Tauranga/Rotorua/Taupo

7 Gisbourne

8 Wairoa

9 Hawkes Bay

10 New Plymouth

11 Wanganui/Taranaki

12 Manawatu

13 Wellington

14 Marlborough

15 Tasman/Nelson

16 Buller

17 West Coast

18 Rangiora

19 Christchurch

20 Ashburton

21 Timaru

22 Oamaru

23 Central Otago

24 Otago

25 Dunedin

26 Invercargill/Southland

OUR PRiiDE VALUES

P
PASSION

for customer 
service

R
RESPECT

for all 
stakeholders

i
INTEGRITY

in everything 
we do

i
INNOVATION

as a cornerstone 
of product 

and business 
development

D
DELIVERY

with attitude

E
EMPOWER

our people to 
make decisions 

and be 
accountable
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Highlights 2010
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, fair value 

movements of fi nancial instruments and asset impairments
grew 5 per cent to $273.9 million

Earnings after tax grew 14 per cent to $119.4 million

Approval to proceed with 36MW Stage I 
Mahinerangi Wind Project

Hewitt, Fortune, RBL Group Top Companies for
Leaders Award – Asia Pacifi c Region

Successful development of Mahinerangi Stage I
on time and on budget

Replacement or upgrade of customer information system

Protect and grow TrustPower’s premium retail brand

Hydro scheme enhancement opportunities to provide additional 
peaking capacity for the Group’s generation portfolio

Progress Canterbury hydro / irrigation opportunities

Progress wind development opportunities in Australia including
Stage II expansion of the Snowtown Wind Farm
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
TrustPower’s consolidated profi t after tax was 
$119.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2010. 
This represents an increase of 14 per cent 
compared with $105.1 million for the same 
period last year.

Underlying earnings after tax excluding fair 
value movements on fi nancial instruments and 
impairment charges in relation to the replacement 
of the Company’s customer information system 
was $116.8 million compared with $118.8 million 
in the prior year, a reduction of 2 per cent. 
This reduction refl ects increased depreciation 
charges following revaluation of assets as at 
31 March 2009.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation, fair value movements of fi nancial 
instruments and asset impairments (EBITDAF) 
grew by 5 per cent to $273.9 million from 
$261.4 million in the previous year. 

Operating revenue fell 3 per cent from 
$785.4 million in the previous year to $759.3 million 
as a result of lower energy prices charged to 
those customers paying spot market prices. 

Operating expenses including energy and line 
costs decreased 7 per cent on the previous year, 
primarily driven by lower wholesale electricity 
costs incurred during most of the fi nancial year. 
This impact was offset by cost increases across 
a range of activities including network distribution 
costs which increased by 10 per cent.

Total electricity volume sold by the Company 
in New Zealand was 4,103 GWh compared 
with 4,032 GWh in the year to 31 March 2009. 
Customer numbers decreased by 2,000 from 
227,000 as at 31 March 2009 to 225,000 as at 
31 March 2010.

For most of the fi nancial year wholesale 
electricity prices have been low due to above 
average levels of South Island hydro storage. 
However, a noticeable increase in wholesale 
prices occurred in the last quarter of the fi nancial 
year as the market responded to declining hydro 
storage levels.

Electricity demand in New Zealand has 
increased over the 2010 fi nancial year with Tiwai 
aluminium smelter returning to full capacity as 
well as commercial and industrial demand 
improving from the recessionary conditions 
experienced in the 2009 fi nancial year.

The Group’s New Zealand generation 
production of 2,017 GWh was down 110 GWh 
(5 per cent) on the previous year and 243 GWh 
(11 per cent) down on expected long term 

average. This was primarily due to lower North 
Island hydro production.

Australian wind production from the fi rst full 
year of operation at the Snowtown Wind Farm in 
South Australia was 373 GWh which was 4 per 
cent lower than expected long term average.

Fair value gains on fi nancial instruments of 
$12.5 million were recorded in the 2010 income 
statement versus a $19.6 million loss in the 
previous year due to signifi cant increases in 
long term interest rates which favourably 
impacted the value of the Group’s interest rate 
hedging portfolio.

Following the decision to re-evaluate the 
project to replace TrustPower’s customer 
information system, a review of alternative 
options has been undertaken. This has resulted 
in an impairment charge of $6.2 million against 
the capitalised cost of the project. The Company 
is actively considering two options and in the 
event that neither option is selected, remediation 
of the existing system would be undertaken.

Underlying return on average equity, adjusted 
for fair value movements on fi nancial instruments 
and impairment of the customer information 
system was 8.1 per cent (last year 8.8 per cent). 

Group operating cash fl ow was $234.1 million 
for the 2010 fi nancial year versus $214.2 million 
in the previous year.

FINANCIAL POSITION
TrustPower’s balance sheet as at 31 March 2010 
remains strong. Shareholders’ funds have 
increased to $1,437 million from $1,430 million. 

Debt (including subordinated bonds) to debt 
plus equity was 33.9 per cent at year end, 
unchanged from the previous year.

TrustPower continues to maintain 
conservative levels of committed credit facilities. 
As at 31 March 2010 Group net debt was 
$726.1 million. TrustPower has recently accepted 
offers to refi nance its AUD 160 million of bank 
facilities due to mature in early September 2010. 
These facilities will be increased to AUD 180 million 
and be extended to July 2013. 

Following completion of the refi nancing 
process committed debt funding will be NZD 
equivalent 1.07 billion.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
During the fi nancial year TrustPower successfully 
raised $140 million of fi ve and seven year bonds 
from retail investors. This has provided diversity 
of long term funding for the Company and 

Directors’
Report

BRUCE HARKER
BE(HONS), PHD (ELEC. ENG), MIPENZ

CHAIRMAN
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another investment option for New Zealand 
based retail investors in TrustPower.

The Board has recently agreed to reopen the 
Company’s Share Buyback Programme which 
was originally approved at the Annual Meeting in 
July 2008. The approval allows the Company to 
purchase up to 5 million shares over a 3 year 
period. To date 236,312 shares have been 
purchased. The Board has approved that the 
Company may purchase up to 2 million shares 
(0.6 per cent of total shares on issue) during the 
period 31 May to 29 October 2010 within 
predefi ned limits.

GENERATION DEVELOPMENT AND 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Good progress has been made on a range of 
growth options in New Zealand and Australia.

The Board has approved a fi rst stage 
development of the Mahinerangi Wind Farm 
adjacent to the Waipori Hydro Generation Scheme. 
Stage I will be a 36MW development including 
the installation of twelve 3MW Vestas V90 wind 
turbines. The long term expected annual output 
from this initial stage of the wind farm is forecast 
to be 105 GWh. 

The construction is scheduled to be completed 
during September 2010 to April 2011 with fi nal 
commissioning and takeover of the wind farm 
scheduled for May 2011.

The output from the wind farm will be 
embedded in the local Aurora network and 
retailed locally. This will enable HVDC costs to be 
avoided and underpins the project’s expected 
return on investment.

The projected capital cost of the project, 
including capitalised interest, is expected to be 
around $75 million.

TrustPower currently has consents for 440MW 
of wind farm development in the South Island and 
is awaiting judgements in relation to appeals made 
to the Environment Court for a further 118 MW of 
South Island hydro consents at Arnold and Wairau.

TrustPower has recognised for some time 
the opportunity for the Coleridge Hydro Scheme 
to play an important part in delivering reliable 
irrigation capacity along the Rakaia River Plains 
in Canterbury. TrustPower is working with 
landowners, as well as central and local 
government to develop solutions to increase 
irrigation reliability in the region.

TrustPower has commenced development of 
a pumping facility to supply water from the 
Rakaia River using the Company’s Highbank 
hydro generation scheme to a joint venture 
between Barhill Chertsey Irrigation Limited and 
Electricity Ashburton Limited. This project is 
expected to be commissioned by the end of the 
2010 calendar year.

TrustPower expects that electricity prices will 
become more volatile over time and consequently 
generation capacity which is able to meet peak 
demand will become more valuable. Many of 
TrustPower’s hydro generation assets have 
peaking capacity and a detailed review is being 
undertaken to identify potential enhancement 
opportunities that can increase peaking capacity.

In Australia, TrustPower is currently seeking a 
variation to its existing planning consent for 
expansion of the Snowtown Wind Farm. The 
proposed variation is to seek approval for some 
amendments to turbine locations together with 
an alternative transmission route, for a stage II 
expansion of up to 214MW. TrustPower is also 
progressing grid connection studies with respect 
to a Stage II expansion which should be 
completed during the 2010 calendar year.

TrustPower continues to make good progress 
in reaching agreement with landowners and 

towards achieving its target of 10 – 12 wind farm 
sites with good development potential across 
New South Wales, Victoria, South Australia 
and Western Australia.

Forecast capital expenditure in the 2011 
fi nancial year is expected to be around $125 million 
which includes generation expenditure 
undertaken as part of the Company’s 10 year 
asset management plan, Stage I of the 
Mahinerangi Wind Farm, pumping facilities 
adjacent to the Company’s Highbank hydro 
scheme in Canterbury, enhancement projects 
and potentially the implementation of a new 
customer information system.

Generation development costs to be expensed 
in the 2011 fi nancial year are projected to be 
around $9 million continuing the high level of 
investment in growing the Company’s portfolio 
of investment options. TrustPower is working to 
ensure that it is in a position to progress 
renewable projects should the Company conclude 
that shareholder value is likely to be created. 

SUSTAINABILITY
TrustPower is fi rmly committed to sustainability 
principles and progress in relation to achieving its 
sustainability goals is provided in this annual report.

TrustPower takes its environmental obligations 
very seriously and has detailed systems and 
focussed resource in place to help manage 
compliance with its ever increasing level of 
consent conditions.

Pleasingly, TrustPower continues to report only 
a very small number of minor non-compliance 
events and none of these events have resulted in 
any signifi cant adverse environmental consequences.

TrustPower continues to invest heavily in its 
Community Awards Programme which is now run 
in twenty four regions across the country with the 
aim of recognising the outstanding contribution 
volunteers make to their local communities. 

In addition to the Community Awards 
Programme, TrustPower has a portfolio of other 
sponsorship initiatives regionally targeted at 
assisting education, the arts and wider 
communities through support of school music 
festivals, youth orchestras, photographic 
competitions, the Bay of Plenty rescue helicopter 
in association with the Tauranga Energy Consumer 
Trust and signifi cant regional events that are of 
benefi t to the wider community.

TrustPower, in conjunction with local like-minded 
charitable groups, has recently established the 
Lend a Hand Foundation in Dunedin, three 
towns on the West Coast, and Snowtown in 
South Australia. The Foundation aims to assist 
small charitable organisations and individuals in 
these communities through funding, mentoring 
or through the provision of goods and services.

REGULATORY ISSUES
Legislation to enact the recommendations of the 
Ministerial Review of the Electricity Industry is 
expected to occur sometime in 2010.

Some of the recommendations including 
SOE asset swaps, a mechanism to manage 
location price risk, expanding the hedge market 
and introducing scarcity pricing deal with complex 
issues that will require time to work through.

TrustPower is closely following the reform process 
and is ensuring that it is appropriately involved so 
that it is well positioned to deal with these changes.

The New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme 
will commence for stationary energy from 1 July 
2010 meaning that thermal generators will face 
a capped cost on carbon emissions through to 
the end of 2012.

In contrast the Australian Government has 
recently announced that its proposed emissions 

trading scheme has been deferred until at least 
2013 as the result of not being able to pass 
supporting legislation through the Senate. However, 
the Mandatory Renewable Energy Trading Scheme 
(MRET) has been reviewed and the distortions 
caused by incentives given to domestic solar 
heating installations are proposed to be removed. 
Legislation has yet to be passed but once enacted 
should provide increased certainty to developers 
of large scale renewable energy, including wind, 
to progress new investment opportunities.

DIRECTORS
In accordance with the Company’s constitution, 
Mr Sam Knowles and myself will retire at the 
2010 Annual Meeting and being eligible offer 
ourselves for re-election.

Sir Ron Carter has advised the Board that 
he will not be seeking re-election at the Annual 
Meeting. The Board and Management thank 
Sir Ron for his immense contribution and 
leadership since joining the Board in January 2002.

The Board has appointed Mr Richard Aitken as 
an independent director of the Company effective 
19 May 2010. Mr Aitken is presently Executive 
Chairman of Beca Group and has been with Beca 
Group for over 40 years.

The Board considers that Mr Aitken’s civil 
engineering, project management and commercial 
skills will strongly complement the Board’s existing 
skill sets.

In accordance with the Company’s constitution 
Mr Aitken will retire at the 2010 Annual Meeting 
and being eligible will offer himself for re-election.

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers has indicated its 
willingness to continue in offi ce.

DIVIDEND 
The Directors are pleased to announce a fi nal 
dividend of 19 cents per share, partially imputed 
to 13 cents per share, payable 11 June 2010 
(record date of 28 May 2010). This together with 
an interim dividend of 19 cents per share provides 
a total payout of 38 cents per share for the 2010 
fi nancial year compared with 33 cents per share, 
excluding special dividends, for the 2009 fi nancial 
year, representing dividend growth of 15 per cent. 

OUTLOOK
New Zealand hydro storage is currently at above 
average levels for this time of year and TrustPower’s 
hydro storage lakes are in a similar position but low 
rainfall is affecting North Island hydro production. 
The current New Zealand hydro storage position 
should ensure a comfortable level of electricity 
supply to meet demand over the 2010 winter.

TrustPower believes that New Zealand’s 
signifi cant wholesale and retail price rises, driven 
initially by the end of the era of cheap gas and 
more recently to cover costs of moving to a 
renewable generation future, will moderate 
somewhat but price rises above infl ation are still 
likely for a period, as retail pricing aligns with the 
increasing long run marginal cost of new generation.

The Company remains well positioned to 
meet its customers’ needs and to pursue further 
development of electricity generation assets 
when it is economically justifi able.

BJ Harker
Chairman
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Board of
Directors

BRUCE HARKER
BE(HONS), PHD (ELEC. ENG), MIPENZ

CHAIRMAN

SAM KNOWLES
MSC(HONS)

DIRECTOR

SIR RON CARTER KNZM
BE(HONS), ME, DISTFIPENZ, D.E (HONS)

DIRECTOR

GEOFF SWIER
MCOM (ECON), MAICD

DIRECTOR

MARKO BOGOIEVSKI
BCA, CA, MBA (HARVARD)

ALTERNATE DIRECTOR

MICHAEL COONEY
LLB

DIRECTOR
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Chief
Executive’s
Report

CHRIS O’HARA
BAGRSC, DIP. BUS

CHIEF EXECUTIVE (ACTING)

MAKING THINGS HAPPEN
TrustPower has a very strong culture of making 
things happen. This action orientation, backed 
by a very strong commercial and customer focus, 
right from our Board and senior management to 
our front line staff, underpins TrustPower’s 
continued performance as the leader in our sector. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
As described in the Directors’ report, the Company 
delivered another solid earnings performance in 
2009/10, despite a sustained drought which 
signifi cantly reduced output from our North Island 
hydro power stations. Once again the geographical 
diversity of our generation assets proved to be a 
real strength as our South Island hydros mitigated 
the impact, but overall New Zealand generation 
output was down 5% on the previous year.

Despite reduced generation output EBITDAF 
was 5% above the previous year.

OUR CUSTOMERS
Competition has been intense during 2009/10, 
and has intensifi ed further following Government’s 
announcement to reorganise the generation 
asset and energy inventory positions of the SOE 
power companies. 

The number of customers changing suppliers 
reached its highest level since 2001, with 15% 
changing nationally in the year ended 31 March 2010.

TrustPower has long had a reputation as a 
leading service provider, and despite high levels 
of competition the Company’s customer 
numbers declined by only 1.2% over the year. 

During the year we continued to grow our 
residential customer footprint with expansion 
into North Canterbury and Gisborne, and further 
growth in the Far North. 

Customer service performance was further 
enhanced during the year with 78 per cent of all 
calls answered within 20 seconds, and 94% of 
our customers rating our service as very good or 
excellent in our post-call customer surveys (up 
from 87% last year).

Many of New Zealand’s blue chip companies, 
including Telecom, Carter Holt Harvey and Fletcher 
Building, continue to regard TrustPower as the supplier 
of choice in the commercial and industrial market. 

Our highly experienced commercial sales team 
continues to be very successful in this market. 

The volume of energy sold to the commercial 
market has increased by 21% over the past year. 

Kinect telecommunications revenues have 
grown 16% during the year, with total sales just 
under $20 million. Customers are enjoying the 
higher service levels provided by Kinect, and this 
is refl ected in recent customer satisfaction surveys. 
Customers also appreciate that, unlike many other 
telecommunications companies, TrustPower’s 
service centres are all in New Zealand, meaning 
service for Kiwis, from Kiwis. 

Government’s ultra-fast broadband initiative, 
coupled with Chorus’ cabinetisation program, 
will provide Kinect with the network platform to 
provide a variety of new services to customers. 
We expect Kinect revenues to continue to 
increase in the coming year.

CUSTOMER INFORMATION 
SYSTEM REPLACEMENT
In 2009 TrustPower embarked on a process to 
replace our existing customer information system 
with the objective of improving effi ciency and 
further enhancing customer service. The proposed 
new system was to be provided by one of the 
global leaders in utility information systems. At the 
end of the detailed design phase of the project, we 
elected not to proceed with the implementation 
of the solution, and to re-evaluate our system 
options. The reason behind our decision was 
that the detailed design showed that the 
proposed system would have to be heavily 
customised in order to be able to support 
TrustPower’s business needs. The degree of 
customisation was a four fold increase on the 
supplier’s forecasts and we did not believe 
implementation was in the Company’s best 
interests. While a good portion of the work 
completed will be valuable moving forward, we 
have elected to impair approximately $6.2 million 
of the cost to date, which includes internal staff 
time. This has impacted earnings in the 2009/10 
year as noted by the Chairman. 

We are now evaluating three options, 
including “nursing along” our existing legacy 
system for a few more years. At some point in 
the near future however, we will have to replace 
our old system.

GENERATION DEVELOPMENT
In its fi rst year of full operation, the Snowtown 
Wind Farm near Adelaide has proven to be one 
of the most effi cient wind farms in Australia, with 
a capacity factor to date of in excess of 43 per cent. 
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The performance of the Snowtown Wind Farm is 
meeting the Company’s expectations and the 
sale of its output is secured at a fi xed price until 
December 2018.

We will add further to our wind portfolio over 
the coming year with the development of the 
36 MW Mahinerangi Wind Farm. This development 
nicely complements our Waipori hydro power 
station in the same area, and we are able to embed 
a signifi cant portion into the local network, thereby 
avoiding HVDC link (Cook Straight Cable) charges. 
These charges are currently fully allocated to 
South Island generators, whether they use the 
link or not. However, small to medium scale 
embedded generation is correctly acknowledged 
as “made locally and consumed locally”.

The 36 MW is the fi rst stage of what is potentially 
a 200 MW wind farm development. Before this and 
other South Island options are progressed however, 
the HVDC cost allocation method will need to change 
or these projects are likely to be non-viable.

STRONG PORTFOLIO OF 
DEVELOPMENT OPTIONS
As the Chairman has noted TrustPower has strong 
development options on both sides of the Tasman.

Perhaps the most exciting New Zealand 
based opportunity is the potential to establish in 
Canterbury a multi-use irrigation and generation 
facility based on our Coleridge hydro generation 
scheme. This project could provide TrustPower 
with multiple revenue streams including water 
supply for irrigation and new hydro generation. 
Initial indications are that the project could provide 
irrigation for an additional 100,000 hectares and 
add a further 70 MW of hydro generation.

The project can also add signifi cantly to the 
local and national economy, with an estimated 
$2.5 million of additional GDP and 30 extra jobs 
per 1,000 hectares irrigated. 

While there are a number of hurdles to 
overcome the project has tremendous potential.

Historically New Zealand has been 
characterised as energy constrained (in other 
words not enough total generation capacity). 
The country is now becoming increasingly 
capacity constrained, meaning that we are 
struggling to have enough “peaking” generation 
that can quickly respond to peaks in demand, 
particularly during cold winter months. 

For TrustPower, this trend not only makes 
our existing storage hydro stations more 

valuable, but also creates the opportunity to add 
additional peaking capacity to our existing 
schemes. Up to 170 MW has been identifi ed, 
and our hydro development team are in the 
process of identifying and progressing the most 
attractive options.

The Chairman has noted the range of 
generation development options that we hold in 
Australia. There is no doubt that in order to meet 
its own renewable energy targets the Australian 
Government will need to modify the existing 
MRET. While we await the conclusion of 
legislation to enable the proposed changes to 
the MRET, we are very well placed to take 
advantage of opportunities that favour 
renewables. A desk-top study places six of our 
potential projects (totalling 3,600 GWh) in the 
“best placed” category, with respect to likely 
economic value. 

EXISTING GENERATION PORTFOLIO
Increasing price volatility means starting and 
stopping our hydro generators more often to 
ensure we run them at the times when 
wholesale prices are the highest. In the past 
year we have, in total, started our machines 
26,000 times, a 27% increase on the previous 
year. While this places strain on the machines 
and makes machine maintenance even more 
critical, the ability to capture high wholesale 
prices has tremendous value for the Company. 
Despite this very high number of machine starts, 
failed starts totalled only 48, which is testament 
to the effectiveness of TrustPower’s asset 
management plan and maintenance staff. 

As noted, our North Island hydros were 
adversely affected by very dry conditions in 
2009/10, with production down 18% on the 
prior year. This was balanced to a large degree by 
our South Island hydros and a 5% improvement 
in wind output.

The last ten years has seen TrustPower’s 
hydro catchments receive below long run 
average rainfall and hence generation production 
has been lower. TrustPower has had to buy the 
energy shortfall from the spot market rather than 
generating it cheaply from its own hydro 
schemes. TrustPower has studied reports on 
climate change and these reports all tend to 
suggest that the last ten years’ production 
results are not necessarily an indicator of 
changes to long run averages.

GOVERNMENT LED INDUSTRY REFORMS
2009 saw the completion of the Ministerial Review 
of the electricity sector which resulted in a range 
of recommendations that will represent the most 
signifi cant sector reforms in a decade. 

The physical and virtual asset swaps (hedge 
contracts) between the SOE power companies 
will result in two of the North Island SOEs having 
signifi cantly more energy to sell in the South Island, 
at the expense of one of the South Island SOE 
generators. That South Island SOE generator will 
gain energy to sell in the North Island at the expense 
of one of the North Island SOEs. While this 
sounds overly and unnecessarily complicated, 
the overall result is that TrustPower will face stiffer 
competition for its South Island customer base. 

We do expect increased customer losses as 
a result, but we also have a range of strategies 
to retain our customers, something which we 
have a strong track record of doing.

We also believe opportunities will be created 
in some markets as a result of these SOE 
energy swaps and we are preparing plans to 
take advantage of these opportunities.

One of the other major aspects of the 
reforms is the expected introduction of “scarcity 
pricing” combined with the removal of the 
Government operated reserve energy scheme, 
which is based on the Government owned 
Whirinaki diesel power station.

TrustPower welcomes the removal of the 
reserve energy scheme which has created 
market distortions and artifi cially capped 
wholesale energy prices. 

We also welcome the introduction of scarcity 
pricing mechanisms. The resulting price signals 
are required in any competitive wholesale market 
to ensure new capacity is built to meet both 
energy and capacity requirements. 

TrustPower expects to respond to these 
price signals through our existing hydro stations, 
enhancement of existing schemes and 
development of new schemes.

While there will be some costs for the 
industry and some fi rming of wholesale prices, 
customers should benefi t from increased 
security of supply for their homes and businesses.

The other key element of the reforms is 
Government’s desire to increase liquidity in the 
wholesale forward contracts (hedge) market. 
To this end Government requires that the 
industry form a liquid hedge market that offers 
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3,000 GWh of energy, which is the equivalent of 
around 375,000 households’ annual consumption. 
TrustPower expects to be both a seller and a 
buyer in this market and we believe that it creates 
opportunity for our Company.

While externally imposed reforms are always 
troubling for any industry, periods of change 
inevitably create opportunities. TrustPower has 
in the past successfully navigated a range of 
Government interventions and reforms, and 
while we don’t wish to downplay the signifi cance 
of the current reforms, we believe we have the 
experience, resources and generation assets to 
take advantage of the changes, minimise the 
impacts and continue to prosper for the benefi t 
of shareholders.

THE COMMUNITY AND THE ENVIRONMENT
The TrustPower National Community Awards 
celebration was held this year in Nelson, and 
was the culmination of 24 regional programmes. 

The overall winner was the Friends of the 
Motueka Hospital Trust. The Trust, led by Jack 
Inglis, was not prepared to accept the closure of 
its local hospital and raised $3.7 million to 
develop a 45 bed community-owned and run 
hospital valued at $12 million. This is an amazing 
story of community leadership and effort, and is 
just one of the stories of the volunteers that make 
New Zealand the place that it is. This and many 
other stories of volunteers from other regions 
around New Zealand will be captured in a series 
of programmes jointly developed between 
TrustPower and TVNZ. The programmes 
commenced in May this year, and we encourage 
all New Zealanders to watch and be inspired by 
real people doing real things in our communities.

Our generation assets occupy, in many cases, 
environmentally and recreationally important parts 
of New Zealand. We continue to work closely 
with Government, local environmental agencies 
and local communities to ensure the fl ora and 
fauna in the regions hosting our generation 
assets are protected and enhanced and that 
recreational opportunities are maximised.

Of the over 3,000 Resource Consent 
conditions we monitor and comply with, it was 
pleasing that again only a very small number of 
minor breaches occurred.

Its important to us that New Zealanders have 
the opportunity to access the recreational 
opportunities that our assets present. Over the 

course of the year, many New Zealanders have 
taken these opportunities for kayaking, boating, 
sailing and walking.  

OUR PEOPLE ARE OUR STRENGTH
The power to make things happen in TrustPower 
is all about our people. TrustPower’s senior 
management and operational management staff 
have decades of collective industry experience 
and this underpins our success.

One of the challenges for any successful 
organisation is to ensure that it continues to 
maintain high quality skills and leadership 
over time.

For that reason, developing problem solving, 
management and leadership skills throughout 
our company has remained a strong focus over 
the past year. 

We were delighted to again be recognised in 
the Hewitt, Fortune, RBL Group Top Companies 
for Leaders Awards. Only 72 organisations 
worldwide were recognised and TrustPower was 
one of only a handful in the Asia Pacifi c Region 
to receive an award. This is testament to the 
leadership development programmes that have 
been implemented at TrustPower.

LOOKING AHEAD
We are entering one of the most signifi cant periods 
of change the New Zealand electricity industry 
has seen in many years, but we are undaunted.

The expertise and experience of our people, 
coupled with a nimble, non-bureaucratic culture 
and strong commercial focus puts us in a good 
position to take on future challenges, and to 
recognise the opportunities that inevitably come 
with change.

Underpinning this is our unique geographical 
spread of well maintained and managed 
generation assets, and our substantial portfolio 
of development options, both in New Zealand 
and Australia.

 These factors collectively truly provide us 
with the power to make things happen for 
shareholders, customers and staff.

Chris O’Hara
Chief Executive (Acting)
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VINCE HAWKSWORTH
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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I expect to use my 25 years of experience in 
the energy and manufacturing sector to 
complement and build on the talented team at 
TrustPower and I am excited by the opportunity 
to lead the Company.

I believe my experience in the United Kingdom, 
Australia and New Zealand will bring a broad 
perspective to the TrustPower business. Of 
particular value is my understanding of the 
market and renewable energy sector in Australia.

The New Zealand and Australian energy 
sectors are undergoing signifi cant change. 
In New Zealand the electricity sector faces the 
greatest reforms for a decade. My experience of 

previous New Zealand reform processes and my 
time leading both generation and retail energy 
business units give me valuable insight into how 
markets respond to reforms. 

In Australia, the debate about carbon pricing 
and the implementation of the renewable energy 
target create uncertainty, however, it is clear that 
if Australia is to make any progress in meeting its 
targets with respect to climate change policy the 
mix of generation plant will have to change. 
TrustPower is well positioned to contribute to 
this change through its wind farm developments.

For TrustPower these challenges provide 
opportunities, it is the ability to make smart 

investments when market conditions are 
favourable that will enable TrustPower to 
continue our high levels of performance.

TrustPower has engaged people, good 
stakeholder relationships and commercially 
focused Board and management.

This means that we can feel positive and 
excited about the future of our Company.

Vince Hawksworth
Chief Executive

TrustPower Welcomes
25 Years Of Experience

As the newly appointed Chief Executive of TrustPower 
I am looking forward to continuing the successful 

growth of the Company.
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Management
Team

VINCE HAWKSWORTH
C.ENG, MBA

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

I lead the team at TrustPower to achieve our strategic 
goals, ensuring we understand the changing markets we 
operate in, analyse future opportunities and make smart 
business choices. My focus is to create the environment 
for our people to succeed and deliver value for our 
shareholders and customers.

THERESE THORN
BE(HONS)

TRADING & RISK MANAGER

My team engage with the wholesale electricity market to 
enable TrustPower’s own generation and that purchased 
from other generators to be sold into the best market. 
I support the talented people who read meters, produce 
bills, switch new customers, allocate cash and reconcile all 
the data to ensure we buy what we sell. We focus on 
accurate, timely and effective outcomes using innovative 
improvement techniques.

CHRIS O’HARA
BAGRSC, DIP. BUS

ENERGY SALES MANAGER

As the manager of TrustPower’s retail division, my 
responsibility is to maximise the value of TrustPower’s 
generation assets by placing their output into the retail 
market. New assets can then be built in the knowledge that 
we have a strong retail business to support them. We place 
our energy in a range of retail markets at prices that provide 
a suitable return to shareholders, while ensuring that we 
maintain a strong reputation and very well served customers.

MIKE KEDIAN
BSC(MECHENG), MSC(ENG), MBA

GENERATION MANAGER

I manage the team that operates and maintains our 
existing assets as well as developing the concepts, 
designs and commercial arrangements for additions to 
our generation portfolio. We are constantly on the 
lookout for ways to improve the effi ciency and output 
of our assets as well as developing a pipeline of future 
opportunities for investments that will add value 
to TrustPower.
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NELSON N TKATCH
BSC, BCOM, ISP, HISP

CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER

My role as Chief Information Offi cer is to make sure 
TrustPower’s information technology investments help 
improve operational effectiveness and service quality while 
enabling business development and growth. We achieve 
these goals by providing secure, dependable business 
systems and support to meet daily technical needs, 
complemented by technology strategies that align with 
TrustPower’s future direction.

PETER CALDERWOOD
BE(HONS), ME, MIPENZ

STRATEGIC BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT MANAGER 

At TrustPower I spend much of my time looking forward 
to the next strategic opportunities for the company, mainly 
in terms of new investments. My day is often taken up in 
negotiations around major contracts and I also work 
closely with TrustPower’s investments in Australia and our 
Australian operations. I am also involved in representing 
TrustPower in industry and regulatory matters in Wellington.

KAREN BOYTE
BBS, MBS(HONS), MHRINZ 

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGER

As Human Resource Manager, my role is to ensure we have 
the right people, in the right place, with the right skills, 
who are highly engaged to achieve TrustPower’s strategic 
goals. This requires development of strategies and actions 
for employee attraction, selection, training and development, 
health and safety, succession, remuneration, performance, 
and retention. The ultimate outcome is high levels of 
productivity and greater returns to shareholders.   

ROBERT FARRON
BBS, CA, CFIPNZ

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER & COMPANY SECRETARY

Ensuring high standards are maintained in fi nancial 
reporting, treasury management, investor relations and 
governance support are a given for my role at TrustPower. 
TrustPower’s growth is underpinned by many renewable 
generation development opportunities. A key focus for 
me is to ensure that the Group has access to the most 
effective funding sources as opportunities develop.
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About Our
Sustainability
Report

MATERIALITY
To determine which issues are of material 
importance, we considered issues that might 
impact our operations, the environment, the 
communities in which we operate, or substantially 
impact our individual customers and stakeholders.

Material measures are those identifi ed from 
stakeholder interaction page 34 and key risks 
page 15. By choosing these measures we have 
produced a report aimed at all stakeholders.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING GUIDELINES
This Annual Report is available on our website, 
www.trustpower.co.nz and is compiled with 
reference to the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) 
Sustainability Reporting Guidelines Version 3.0 
(“G3”). We have assessed our compliance with 
the reporting guidelines at the Application Level (B).

The GRI guidelines provide a voluntary 
reporting framework used by organisations 
around the world as the basis for sustainability 
reporting. The GRI is the generally accepted 
framework for ‘measuring, disclosing, and being 
held accountable to internal and external 
stakeholders for organisation performance 
toward the goal of sustainable development’.

The GRI consists of a framework and guiding 
principles as well as a range of ‘indicators’ that 
reporting organisations can report against. 
Indicators are chosen on the basis of materiality or 
signifi cance to the business and / or stakeholders. 
Not all indicators are reported against in this report.

The full list of G3 indicators, where they are 
reported on in the report and to what extent they 
are reported can be found on our website or by 
inquiry to the address listed in the directory.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES
We have reviewed GRI’s G3 Reporting Principles 
in an effort to provide a balanced and reasonable 
representation of our sustainability performance.

We have applied the key principles of materiality, 
completeness, context, comparability, accuracy, 
timeliness, clarity, reliability and boundary setting.

REPORTING PERIOD, ACCURACY 
AND COMPLETENESS
This report is based on the performance and 
information for the fi nancial year to the end of 
March 2010. We use in-house reporting systems 
to collect data for the GRI process.

BOUNDARY OF THE REPORT
This report covers the operations of TrustPower 
and all of its subsidiaries. Outside the scope of 
this report are outsourced customer services 
and a variety of fi eld services contractors.

EXTERNAL ASSURANCE
The fi nancial statements have been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Independent review 
of the Company’s impact on greenhouse gases 
‘carbon footprint’ has also been completed by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A copy of the carbon 
inventory and independent review report can be 
obtained by enquiry to the address listed in 
the directory.

The remainder of the report has not been 
subjected to independent review.

THE REASON FOR 
THIS REPORT
At TrustPower we believe 
that producing an annual 
sustainability report is an 
essential part of being a 
good corporate citizen. 
This report provides a means 
of communicating with a 
range of stakeholders on the 
full range of our activities. 
Consistent with previous years 
we report on sustainability 
in conjunction with our 
annual report.
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At TrustPower we believe that sustainability 
means building a long term business through 
relationships with all parties with whom we  
interact. In order to report on our progress in this 
regard we report economic, staff, environmental, 

customer and community related measures. 
Our performance this year was comparable with 
previous years across the fi ve areas we report 
on although not all targets were achieved.

 Achieved       Partially achieved       Not achieved

1 Scale ranges from 0 (worst) to 7 (best)
2 Customers rating very good or excellent

A more detailed analysis can be found in pages 20-33

All businesses face risks and challenges. Our key risks and challenges are summarised in the table below.

Sustainability
Outlook

Area Measure 2009 Actual 2010 Actual 2010 Target 2011 Target

Economic EBITDAF Growth 25% 5% 8-12% 8-12%

Staff 1 Staff Survey 4.9 4.9 >5.0 >5.0

Environmental Resource Consent 
Breaches

5 5 0 0

Customer 2 Customer Satisfaction 88% 94% >95% >95%

Community Stakeholder 
Consultation

Completed Completed Complete detailed 
stakeholder 
consultation

Complete detailed 
stakeholder 
consultation

BUILDING A 
SUCCESSFUL BUSINESS

Category Key Risks / Challenges Approach Targets Progress

Economic Unable to meet future 
demand for electricity

Shareholder value growth

Develop a pipeline of 
opportunities for new 
investment

Maintain strong focus on 
effi ciency of operation

Invest in economic 
growth projects

Focus on long term 
sustainable pricing

Costs benchmarked at below 
industry average

New projects all economically 
viable

New projects completed 
on time and to budget

Prices set at levels so 
customer base maintained

Our People Need to retain and develop 
a team to produce ongoing 
performance

Extensive training and 
development programme

Succession planning and 
internal promotion

75% of management roles 
fi lled by internal promotion

Continuous improvement in 
staff survey results

Staff survey exceeds 
international benchmark

Environmental Need to minimise 
environmental impact of 
generation schemes

Overall impact on carbon 
emissions

Work closely with special 
interest groups and the local 
community to minimise 
impact of new generation

Comply with resource consents

Reduce carbon footprint

Zero signifi cant resource 
consent breaches

Year on year reduction in 
carbon emissions per customer

Customer Dissatisfi ed customers 
prevent sustainable economic 
performance

Competitive pricing

Excellent customer service

Information and advice

Net customer churn <2% 

>95% satisfaction in survey

Community Relationships with and 
an understanding of local 
communities is required to 
effectively operate

Community engagement 
including sponsorship and 
community awards

Consultation around resource 
issues

Maintain a strong corporate 
profi le in all areas in which 
we operate and build 
relationships within those 
communities

No resource consents turned 
down due to lack of consultation
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PIP TSCHUDIN
COMMUNITY RELATIONS COORDINATOR

Pictured above at Mosaic Foodbank, 
Winner of the TrustPower Tauranga 
Regional Community Awards 2009
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During the year 25 more amazing voluntary 
groups are going to be profi led and celebrated 
through this series.

So when asked about what TrustPower’s 
Community Relations team does – well, we made 
that happen.

Of course inspirational voluntary groups 
make up the majority of the recipe for that 
success, however it is TrustPower’s Community 
Awards programme that provides the platform 
on which these voluntary groups are celebrated 
and recognised.

Spread throughout the country our four 
person Community Relations team works within 
the communities where we operate to forge 
relationships, build brand awareness and create 
positive profi le for the Company. But we don’t 
see our job requirements in exactly those words. 
We just see that we are representing a company 
which chooses to be a responsible and active 
participant in society.

My role involves coordinating TrustPower’s 
community support activities, the largest of 
which is TrustPower’s Community Awards 
programme. Over the last 16 years the 
Community Awards has grown from one single 
Award into a programme now run in 24 regions 
around New Zealand and which culminates in 
the TrustPower National Community Awards.

An average day sees us working directly with 
members of our communities. We could be 
hitting the streets promoting the Awards, 
facilitating the tough job of judging Awards or 
hosting Community Awards events.  

Some days see us behind the computer 
screen, doing the little things that need to be 
done to ensure the Community Awards and our 
other community support activities run 
seamlessly. A major focus over the last year has 
been working closely with Rotary Club members 
on the West Coast and in Central Otago to 
establish a TrustPower Lend A Hand Foundation 
in each of these regions. 

Rather than coming from the “we’ll just send 
a banner” school of sponsorship, TrustPower 
takes an active involvement in all our community 
support activities. As a result our team is well 
known and warmly welcomed into the 
communities in which TrustPower operates and 
our activities are well supported. 

In the last year alone more than 1,150 
voluntary groups and organisations have been 
recognised through the TrustPower Community 
Awards programme, with around 350 groups 
taking home a TrustPower Award to prove it. 

Over the last year we have also recognised 
24 special young volunteers who tirelessly give 
to their school and community through the 
inaugural TrustPower Youth Community 
Spirit Award.

This recognition makes a huge difference to 
these volunteers – it empowers them to continue, 
provides them with a mechanism to promote 
their work, and gives them an opportunity to 
create networks and relationships with other 
groups. Many voluntary groups also fi nd that due 
to the growing national recognition of the 
TrustPower Community Awards programme, 

having a TrustPower Community Award on their 
CV improves their chances of future funding.

It is this national recognition of the 
TrustPower programme, and how it is unearthing 
stories of real and inspirational Kiwis, that attracted 
TVNZ6 to join us in our crusade to recognise 
volunteers. Now, thanks to a partnership 
between TVNZ6 and TrustPower, Volunteer Power 
is on air and telling the stories of the voluntary 
groups discovered through the TrustPower 
Community Awards.

So when people ask what we do, I admit it 
can be hard to quantify. It’s not just PR or 
community relations, and we are certainly not just 
company spokespeople. We are TrustPower 
personifi ed – living and breathing the TrustPower 
values in the communities in where we operate. 
But I do admit, if people have to fi t us into a box 
somewhere, we just say we have the best PR 
job in the country!

Making It Happen
In The Community

In May 2010 two of New Zealand’s top voluntary groups took to the 
big screen as stars of Volunteer Power, a new series on TVNZ6. 
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WAYNE WEBB
FARM MANAGER OF LYNMORE STATION
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Landcorp Farming Limited (Landcorp) is a 
State-Owned Enterprise and the largest farming 
business in New Zealand. Landcorp’s extensive 
and diverse operations are among the best 
performing in the sheep and beef, dairy and 
deer sectors of New Zealand agriculture. 
With approximately 650 sites nationwide, 
Landcorp went looking for a supplier that would 
allow their farm managers to focus their energy 
on their passion, which is their business, and 
they chose TrustPower. 

Landcorp as an organisation consists of a 
team based in Wellington and a number of farm 
management teams spread from sub tropical 
Northland to cool temperate Southland. 
Landcorp is therefore an organisation that 
looks for suppliers than can satisfy both the 
administrative effi ciency required by the 
Wellington team as well as the direct and day 
to day support that their farm management 
teams require.

Like Landcorp, TrustPower is an organisation 
with teams of people working from the far north 
to the deep south and we understand that to be 
an effective supplier we need to deliver the same 
high quality of service to our customers 
regardless of location. Back in the earliest days 
of the electricity reforms we began building 
processes and putting in place teams 
nationwide that could meet that need. Today we 
provide a quality service to customers from one 
end of the country to the other and that gives 
organisations like Landcorp the confi dence to 
consolidate their business with the one supplier. 

In what is a signifi cant undertaking for some 
of our competitors, we effi ciently switched in 
Landcorp sites right across the country and 
ensured we got the basics right. Since then our 
support teams have developed direct 
relationships with both the corporate and farm 
management sides of the business, ensuring 
both the practical and administrative needs of 

both groups are met. Through that process we 
have identifi ed and resolved issues that were not 
fully addressed by either Landcorp or its 
previous suppliers and worked with farm 
managers to assist them to better understand 
their consumption and pricing options. Over the 
next few months our people will continue to 
work with the Landcorp team to identify ways 
we can support their business further ensuring 
their managers can focus their energy and 
continue to make Landcorp a success.

This is a story that we have repeated many 
times now for many of New Zealand’s leading 
organisations as well as for small businesses be 
they in the far north or the deep south and it is a 
story that you will continue to hear into the future.

Making It Easy
To Do Business

“The TrustPower team understand that getting the basics right and 
supporting our business managers allows our managers to focus 

their energy on making their business a success.”
Phil Mckenzie - Marketing & Procurement Manager Landcorp
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Our
Customers

At TrustPower, we have always focused on 
ensuring we get the basics right, and that 
includes making sure our customers fi nd it 
easy to do business with us. We look to make 
improvements by listening to our customers 
via conversations with them, and our own 
customer surveys. 

Over the past year we have made changes 
to our telephone system to make it easier and 
faster for our customers to speak with a real 
person, and we have added services designed 
to keep our customers better informed about 
power outages.  We continue to focus on our 
call quality, measuring our performance via post 
call customer surveys and taking steps to ensure 
we reach our target of 95% of customers rating 
the service they received as very good or excellent.  

We also recognise that there is nothing more 
frustrating for a customer than hearing 
“I’m not able to help you with that, I’ll have to 
transfer you to another department” which is why 
we implemented our Level 2 Customer Services 
Representative programme. This programme is 
designed to provide our people with, as well as 
great communications skills, the technical 
knowledge so they can solve most queries 

without the need to transfer the customer to 
another part of our business. 

As a result of the programme, we have seen 
a 30% reduction in work being passed on. 
Analysis and real time customer surveys tell us 
our One and Done approach and training means 
95 per cent of calls by customers result in their 
enquiry now being completely solved in one call.

When it comes to our business customers, 
we understand that today’s managers don’t 
have the time to become an expert in every 
aspect under their direct control. Instead they 
seek to build a team of experts around them 
that they can rely on. For many of our customers 
TrustPower’s commercial sales team and our 
tele-account managers fi ll that role. We are still 
one of the few retailers with a nationwide team 
of account managers, providing on site support 
for customers that need it.

Some organisations might stop there but our 
team is committed to continuing to improve the 
service we provide our customers. Recently our 
service team was asked the simple question 
“our customers would love it if?” and we 
received a number of great suggestions that we 
are looking to implement in the coming year.

SIMPLICITY – THE QUALITY 
OF BEING SIMPLE
As the world becomes 
increasingly complex, 
customers are looking for 
suppliers that open doors 
and are easy to deal with. 
At TrustPower, we recognise 
that fact and focus on doing 
real things designed to 
minimise customer effort.

Early this year we identifi ed that customers in North Canterbury needed a change and we 
asked them to join us. Rangiora, Kaiapoi and surrounds are areas that we are well suited to 
serve given our nearby Coleridge hydro generation scheme. We appreciate that so many 
customers have chosen to switch to TrustPower and we will do our very best to ensure that 
they get the service they deserve.

North Canterbury Customers Join TrustPower
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The Kinect team were professional and friendly, 
and we now have a phone and internet solution 
that is more suited to our business.

I’d heard about Kinect, as some of our 
customers use Kinect for their emails and internet, 
and I’d only heard positive things. I’d also seen 
the Kinect Billboards that went up around the 
Bayfair area some time ago. Charlene from Kinect 
then approached me and discussed Kinect 
Business with us. Charlene was very professional 
and friendly, and I liked that she was realistic 
about what Kinect could and could not offer. I was 
very happy with the fact that Charlene wasn’t 
pushy like salespeople can be, and as I also work 
in a sales environment, I really appreciated the 
fact that she called only when it had been 
arranged and when it was suitable. Charlene gave 
us time to look at and work through the costings.

We found the proposal very easy to read and 
follow, and were pleased with the prices. 

Kinect was very competitive and provided a 
much better solution for our requirements.

We were also pleased with the switching 
process. I was impressed that her business 
manager Peter came with Charlene for the fi nal 
sign over and was able to give more information.

Because of the industry we work in, it was 
crucial that the switch between suppliers 
happened without a hitch. When switching over 
I had calls from Patrick at Kinect who walked me 
through the process.

One aspect for being drawn to Kinect was 
that they support local New Zealand businesses 
in the Bay of Plenty.

“Kinect was very competitive and provided a 
much better solution for our requirements.”

Tim Jensen
Mondo Travel Tauranga

MONDO TRAVEL TAURANGA 
ENJOY THE EXPERIENCE
Because of the industry that 
Mondo Travel works in, it was 
crucial when switching phone 
providers to Kinect, that it 
happened without a hitch. 
Mondo told us that they were 
very pleased with both the 
process and our staff.

The past year has been a busy one for Kinect with strong growth in both phone and internet 
services as well as launching our business offer. With the number of services we sell rapidly 
approaching 35,000 Kinect is consolidating itself as a niche player in the telco market. 
Kinect Business is rapidly becoming known for providing the personal service that many 
small businesses expect (but seldom get) from their service provider. 

Strong Kinect Growth Continues
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ARNOLD RIVER
WEST COAST

A list of some of the proposed 
facilities includes;
 Vehicle access and parking
 Beaches for allowing access 

to the course
 A number of access tracks
 Viewing areas for events
 Power supplies for events
 Anchor points for white 

water gates
 Toilets
 Landscaping
 Playground and outdoor 

activity areas
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Many of our hydro schemes are small scale, and 
have been operating for many years, so by using 
existing infrastructure and resources there are 
potentially gains to be had. These gains are 
driven by achieving more generation output, 
but they also open up the possibilities for 
cultural, recreational and environmental gains. 

In many cases these gains can be achieved 
without any signifi cant changes to structures, 
while others require larger changes but rely on 
portions of existing infrastructure. Once an 
economically viable option is selected, we initiate 
the process of consultation and investigation in 
preparation for applying for consents.

Key to this process is meeting the 
requirements of the Resource Management Act 
which emphasises (amongst other things): 
 the effi cient use and development of natural 

and physical resources 
 the effects of climate change 
 the benefi ts of renewable energy.

While it can still take an extended period to 
consent a project of this type, generally the time 
frame is shorter than that for consenting a 
new scheme. 

An example of a large project of this type 
nearing completion of the consent process is 
TrustPower’s Arnold Hydro Electric Power 
Scheme. This project focuses on the existing 
Arnold dam on the West Coast of the South 
Island and involves a new canal structure which 
makes its way from the existing dam to a new 
powerhouse much further down river resulting in 

a dramatic increase in output. This increase in 
output is approximately 10 times the existing 
scheme, and is very important in terms of the 
West Coast’s electricity supply.

This project demonstrates that it is not only 
TrustPower that benefi ts from these developments. 
Some of the cultural, recreational and environmental 
gains for the Arnold scheme include:
 improved fi sh passage
 improved fi sh screening
 195 hectares of indigenous vegetation restored 

and protected for the loss of 45 hectares
 extensive weed management 

programme initiated
 the existing power station site turned into a 

recreational and amenity area including picnic 
areas, toilets and a learn to fi sh pool

 employment opportunities and increased 
local expenditure arising from construction

 improved roading
 new recreational opportunities.

One specifi c example of these is the 
development of an “out of river” white-water 
course. Initially it was proposed to construct an 
in-river course but through the consultation 
process it was agreed that the out of river option 
provided more benefi ts and increased the 
recreational opportunities on offer in the region.

The course will comprise of a number of 
different sections, as identifi ed in the diagram 
opposite. There is a top pool, with slow water 
for launching boats, and instructional pool, a 
slow moving section suitable for tubing and 

instruction, a white water section, and a fi nishing 
pool for taking boats out, which may also be 
suitable for swimming.

The course will provide for a range of 
recreational users, ranging from those directly 
involved in the use of the course for white-water 
sports, to education providers who will use the 
course as part of their educational programmes, 
to the general public who will use the picnic 
areas and walking tracks. 

Studies undertaken during the consultation 
and investigation phase, suggest the course will 
provide between 6,000 and 9,000 user days, 
with 1,700 individual users.

The overall feeling amongst those spoken to 
during consultation was that the white-water 
course will be an added attraction to one of the 
world’s top white water destinations. 
Experienced kayakers will be able to play in the 
features on days off, or when rivers are 
unsuitable. For those less skilled, the park will 
add a graduated or easier experience before 
moving to the larger rivers.

Arnold Development
Win-Win For All

As part of TrustPower’s commitment to enhancing and optimising 
existing assets, an extensive programme focuses on this area.
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Under the Resource Management Act 1991, we 
require resource consents to enable us to 
operate our generation schemes. Accordingly, 
we monitor district, regional and national level 
policy documents that have the potential to 
impact on existing assets or future development 
aspirations. In total, this constitutes over 60 
different council regions where statutory plans 
are being developed, reviewed or amended.

Involvement in the planning process is critical 
to ensuring our existing assets are adequately 
protected, and enhancement or further 
development is not unduly restricted. 

We advocate for appropriate weight to be 
afforded to the benefi ts of renewable energy in all 
planning documents throughout New Zealand.

The past year saw a number of key legislation 
changes which have infl uenced our operations, 
including the Resource Management 
Amendment (Streamline and Simplify) Bill and the 
Environment Canterbury Temporary Commissioners 
and Improved Water Management Act. We have 
also actively participated in the development of 
the proposed National Policy Statement on 

Freshwater, and the National Environmental 
Standard on ecological fl ows.

We have also been working to prepare the 
Company for the proposed Phase II changes to 
the Resource Management Act, released in 
mid-2010, which will include:
 improving infrastructure provisions 
 consideration of better freshwater 

management 
 sustainable and cost effective aquaculture 

planning and development 
 addressing the establishment, role and 

functions of the new Environment Protection 
Agency (EPA). 

THE YEAR AHEAD
Our focus for the coming year will be to 
continue to strive to achieve our goal of zero 
non-compliance events; gain any necessary 
resource consents on terms that are both 
environmentally and commercially acceptable; 
and ensure our involvement in the various 
planning instruments that can impact upon the 
operation of our schemes.

Environmental
Performance

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 
PLANNING

Our goal as an electricity generator is to have zero non-compliance events. Currently 
TrustPower holds 481 resource consents, containing in excess of 3,100 conditions, with 
which we must comply.

In an ongoing effort to ensure that all staff keep compliance at the forefront of their daily 
activities, further training in environmental compliance and awareness has been undertaken 
by all generation staff this year, as part of a biennial environmental training programme. 

As a direct result of the initiatives implemented over the last fi ve years, our non-compliance 
events have been reduced from 18 in 2006 to fi ve in 2009. 2010 saw a repeat of last year’s 
outstanding result, with a total of fi ve non-compliance events. All fi ve events were reported to 
the appropriate regional authorities, which determined that none were signifi cant and no 
enforcement action was required.

Avoiding Non-Compliance Events
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Tonkin and Taylor was commissioned in 2009 
to undertake a Resource Management Act 
(RMA) compliance review for our Company’s 
20 generation schemes. This review was part 
of a programme of reviews set down in our 
Environmental Management System, which 
schedules an independent RMA compliance 
review every four years. The last review was 
completed in 2005.

The 2009 review evaluated compliance for an 
extensive range of resource consent conditions 
(in the order of 750 operational/monitoring 
conditions), and regional and district plan 
provisions (in the order of 400). Overall, compliance 
with these requirements was assessed to be 
“high” with the instances of non-compliance 
being extremely rare (about 1% for resource 
consents and about 3% for plan provisions). 

This shows signifi cant improvement since 
the 2005 review with overall resource consent 
compliance increasing from 77% in 2005 to 94% 
in 2009. The “unable to confi rm compliance” 
numbers are as a result of the appropriate 
information being unavailable at the time of 
the audit.

CONTINUAL IMPROVEMENT

The term ‘contaminant release’ refers to 
the uncontrolled or accidental release of a 
hazardous substance or contaminant into 
the environment. 2010 saw zero contaminant 
releases occur across our 20 generation 
schemes (hydro and wind) compared, with 
one event in 2009.

Managing Contaminant Releases
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HELEN STANGER
PRODUCTION CO-ORDINATOR CANTERBURY GENERATION
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In 1995 I was employed by P&O Crothalls to 
clean Coleridge Power Station, which was then 
owned by the Electricity Corporation of 
New Zealand. In time, I began to assist with 
generating unit maintenance and general 
administration on a part-time basis. Shortly after 
TrustPower purchased Coleridge Power Station, 
I was approached to train as an operator and 
take on full-time employment. With some 
trepidation (due to a well-developed fear of 
electricity), I agreed to the challenge and in 
May 1999 embarked upon this interesting 
career path. Not quite what I’d planned in my 
school-days! In 2005 I was appointed Production 
Co-ordinator for the Canterbury Region, which 
comprises three stations: Coleridge, Highbank 
and Montalto. There are seven generating units 
and seven staff, including myself.

Hydro-generation stations tend to be in 
remote, scenic areas and therefore offer a 
lifestyle unavailable in many careers. I don’t think 
a week would go by when I don’t see a tourist 
taking a photograph while I’m driving to or from 
work. They pay to get here, while I’m paid to be 
here! Stations are staffed by people with ‘country’ 
values. Due to a low staff turn-over, we get to 
know one another rather well. The Canterbury 
Team is what makes my job so enjoyable. 
They’re dedicated to their work, talented, and 
more than a little quirky – which is great! We’re part 
of the local tight-knit community, so it is important 
to us that TrustPower is held in high regard.

A few years ago, my husband gave up his 
salaried job to concentrate on his horse-trekking 
and breeding business. Its success relies upon 

the rugged beauty of this area. People love 
coming here to experience a type of riding 
becoming inaccessible to much of the 
population. Our horses are brought up on steep, 
rough country. They become used to walking 
through rivers and swamps, over fallen trees and 
learn to look after themselves. Horses bred in 
fl at paddocks have to be taught these things. 
I get the fun of helping to train the youngsters, 
which is what I particularly enjoy. 

I appreciate that TrustPower has taken a 
chance on me. I like that TrustPower values the 
individual, encourages their strengths, and gives 
the opportunity for personal development. 
TrustPower has sponsored me to the Berwick 
Outdoor Experience and included me in its 
Leadership Programme. I have also been lucky 
enough to attend the HydroPower Technology 
Course. The value gained from these courses is 
ongoing and used on a daily basis. 

I know a little about a lot of things now! 
For example, in a typical week I might have: 
taken a closer look at eels (thankfully not in the 
fl esh!) as part of my involvement with a trust; 
checked out New Zealand Standards for cranes/
ladders/safety harnesses; studied Environment 
Canterbury rules on offal pits; attended a fault 
call-out while on-call; studied the Electricity 
Regulations; and arranged contractors for a 
major station outage. All quite apart from the 
normal running of the region which requires 
planning meetings with staff, routine reporting, 
machine maintenance, invoice approval, outage 
planning, arranging training, compliance 
monitoring for resource consents, health and 

safety and buildings, civil surveillance, contractor 
supervision and all the while fi elding general 
enquiries from TrustPower and the public. 
Sometimes it all gets a little scary, but it’s never 
boring. When the going gets tough, I am fully 
supported by my manager, who is always 
available for advice. Thankfully, he also has a 
sense of humour.

Production Co-ordinators have a forum once 
a year. Due to the geographical spread of our 
regions, this is our only opportunity to all get 
together and discuss pertinent issues. I note 
that, while our title is the same, we each do 
different tasks within our respective regions and 
we each have very different personalities and 
operating styles. Yet we have all found our place 
within TrustPower. 

Coleridge Provides The 
Ultimate Work/Life Balance

My background was in banking, a local authority, the hospitality 
industry and High Country farming. Then everything changed...



TrustPower | Annual Report 201028

Top Company for Leaders is the most 
comprehensive global leadership study in the 
world, examining how organisations choose and 
develop leaders, and determining the correlation 
between leadership practices and fi nancial results.

In 2007, we were named as a country 
winner for Australia and New Zealand - the fi rst 
New Zealand company ever selected. In late 
2009 we were named as a winner in the Asia 
Pacifi c Region. To put this in context; out of 
537 global participants (many of whom are 
Fortune 500 companies), we were one of only 
72 companies in the world named as either 
Global or Regional Top Companies for Leaders.

This has been achieved through a strong 
focus on setting clear expectations with our 
staff, in line with our business goals, while 
supporting, encouraging and developing each 
individual to be the best they can be. At all levels 
in the organisation we focus on developing a 

high performance culture through strong 
leadership capability, to deliver an empowering 
environment that everyone wants to work in. 

Our senior leaders spend time coaching and 
mentoring, not just their own staff, but others 
across the business.  This year we introduced a 
new development programme for our contact 
centre staff, designed to provide greater 
discretion for decisions they may make when 
interacting with our customers. 

The introduction of the project to replace our 
customer information system during the year 
provided a number of opportunities to second 
staff into different roles, either directly within the 
project or backfi lling for those who were directly 
involved. As a result, a number of staff have 
been actively involved in line management roles, 
cross-business project teams, and process 
improvement teams.

Our
People

AWARDED TOP COMPANY 
FOR LEADERS
How does a small Tauranga-
based company achieve 
its second award as a Top 
Company for Leaders?

Once again, there has been no turnover in identifi ed successors. We continue to focus 
attention on attraction, retention, and succession and talent management. Voluntary 
employee turnover reduced during the year.

Reduced Employee Turnover



TrustPower | Annual Report 2010 29

In November 2009, TrustPower was audited for 
the fi rst time against the ACC Workplace Safety 
Management Practices, and achieved 
secondary level accreditation. This helps to 
reinforce our goal of achieving a 25% reduction 
in injury incidents year on year. We also offer a 
number of employee wellness initiatives which 
include fi nancial support for staff competing 
together in team sports activities, smoking 
cessation programmes, our employee assistance 
programme, and a 12 week weight-loss challenge. 
Providing access to budget advice, debt 
management and retirement planning is also part 
of our ongoing wellness initiatives. 

Our focus for the coming year will continue 
to be on employee engagement, leadership 
growth and developing employee capability. 

WORKPLACE SAFETY

Each year, TrustPower measures the 
engagement of staff, which in turn helps to 
focus improvements and initiatives to enable 
us to consistently improve. The measurement 
indices used in the engagement survey can 
be summarised through one theme: self 
determination. In order to operate with self 
determination, an employee must have trust in 
the business processes, a clear understanding 
of the business environment, and a career 
path within that environment. 

Engagement of Staff
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COLERIDGE STATION
DEVELOPMENT

  D
EVELOPMENT LOCATION
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In particular, we search for innovative ways to 
better use the water resource we already have 
consent for, and the infrastructure that is already 
in place. 

The Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA) 
encourages the effi cient use of physical and 
natural resources. It states that any person 
exercising powers under the Act in relation to 
managing the use, development, and protection 
of natural and physical resources, shall have 
regard to the effi cient use and development of 
natural and physical resources; the effects of 
climate change; and the benefi ts to be derived 
from the use and development of renewable 
energy. Based on this, there is much scope for 
us to continue improving the effi ciency and 
capacity of our existing HEPS, thereby improving 
the effi ciency of the use of the water resource. 

Once an enhancement opportunity has been 
investigated, and the economic viability confi rmed, 
we embark on the resource consent phase. 
As a starting point, any potential effect of an 
enhancement on the environment needs to be 
determined. An advantage of enhancements 
over new builds is that there may be only minor 
modifi cations required to improve outputs, 
because much of the necessary infrastructure 

already exists. This is often achieved with little 
effect on the environment. For new hydro 
developments the potential effects can be 
sizeable, and post construction they often 
require adaptive management, which can be 
costly. High consenting costs remain a big 
hurdle for new projects, particularly as these are 
usually subject to both council and Environment 
Court hearings.

As part of the resource consent application 
process, we consult with stakeholders and the 
local community. During this process, opportunities 
are often presented for HEPS enhancements 
that can provide tangible benefi ts to the 
environment and community.

By way of example, in 2009, resource consent 
was granted for the Coleridge HEPS Tailrace 
Project in Canterbury. The Project will result in 
tangible benefi ts for the local community. The 
Project involves installing a small power station 
within the tailrace of the existing Coleridge 
HEPS. While some modifi cation to the tailrace 
will be required, no additional water take is 
required, with the current Coleridge Station 
discharge being reused and passed through a 
number of parallel generators to provide an 
additional 3 MW of generation. 

During consultation, the community 
expressed a desire to improve the Sir Edmund 
Hillary walking track adjacent to the Coleridge 
Power Station, and we have undertaken to do 
this. As a result, not only will the scheme’s use 
of water be improved, and output gains made, 
but the local community will benefi t through 
improvements to a popular amenity of the area.

The Motukawa In-race Generator uses the 
same principle. In this case, a small generator 
was installed in an existing water supply race at 
the Motukawa HEPS in Taranaki, making use of 
the drop within the canal to provide additional 
electricity generation capacity for the HEPS. 
The generator was constructed in 2005 and 
contributes an additional 0.9 GWh of electricity 
a year.

Innovation The Key
To Enhancing Value

We are always on the lookout for ways to 
maximise the effi ciency and output of our existing 

Hydroelectric Power Schemes (HEPS).
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Sustainable
Economic
Performance

HOW WE HAVE PERFORMED
Our underlying profi tability is consistent with last 
year. However we consider this to be a good 
result given the challenging economic climate. 
We have made good progress on last year’s 
major challenge with a number of projects 
progressing through resource consent and 
Environment Court processes. We recently 
announced the commencement of Stage 1 of 
the Mahinerangi Wind Farm. 

OPTIONS FOR GROWTH
The viability of generation development projects 
is affected by a number of variables including 
foreign exchange rates, forecast electricity 
prices and regulation. The variables can move 
quickly so it is important to be able to proceed 
with a project rapidly if and when these variables 
become favourable. 

During the year we raised $140 million from 
a senior bond issue. This has left us with 
$429 million of undrawn bank debt facilities as 
at 31 March 2010. Even though we have 
reduced these facilities by $80 million we still 
have satisfactory funding capacity to commit to 
new projects when conditions support 
investment. 

THE YEAR AHEAD
Our aim for the coming year is to provide 
another year of earnings growth in line with our 
economic goal. Major challenges for us in the 
coming year include the completion of the 
Mahinerangi Wind Farm Stage 1 construction on 
time and to budget and responding to increased 
retail competition.

*Information for years prior to the Group’s transition date of 1 April 2006 to NZ IFRS have been prepared under existing NZ FRS and have not been translated to equivalent NZ IFRS amounts.

At TrustPower our economic 
goal is to produce steadily 
growing profi tability over the 
long term. This allows us to 
provide our shareholders with 
increased returns without 
the risks associated with 
rapid growth.

Five Year Economic Summary Mar 06* Mar 07 Mar 08 Mar 09 Mar 10

Electricity customer numbers (000’s) 220 219 222 227 225

Telecommunication customer services (000’s) - 15 26 30 33

Customer sales (GWh) 4,724 4,575 4,540 4,032 4,103

Weighted average spot price of electricity purchased ($/MWh) 94 63 73 120 56

Hydro generation production (GWh) 1,523 1,667 1,472 1,568 1,435

Wind generation production (GWh) 268 274 546 558 582

Weighted average spot price of electricity generated ($/MWh) 91 62 68 114 50

$M $M $M $M $M

Operating Revenue 677 626 681 785 759

EBITDAF 186 196 208 262 274

Fair Value Movements of Financial Instruments - 2 1 (20) 13

Asset Impairment - - - (1) (6)

Amortisation and Depreciation (28) (28) (32) (44) (55)

Interest Paid (29) (27) (40) (52) (59)

Tax Expense (48) (41) (39) (40) (48)

Net Profi t After Tax 81 102 98 105 119

Underlying Earnings After Tax 81 101 93 119 117

Shareholders’ Equity 896 1,217 1,257 1,430 1,437

Current and Other Assets 133 117 254 114 157

Property, Plant and Equipment 1,263 1,905 2,057 2,373 2,366

Intangible Assets 39 43 40 40 36

Total Assets 1,435 2,065 2,351 2,527 2,559

Current and Other Liabilities 131 132 231 114 313

Deferred Tax Liability 48 207 207 251 267

Term Debt 360 509 656 732 542

Total Liabilities 539 848 1,094 1,097 1,122

Net Assets 896 1,217 1,257 1,430 1,437

Earnings Per Share (cents) 26 31 31 33 38

Dividends Per Share (cents) 23 27 30 33 38

Return on Average Shareholders’ Funds 9.1% 8.6% 7.5% 7.8% 8.3%
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*Information for years prior to the Group’s transition date of 1 April 2006 to NZ IFRS have been prepared under existing NZ FRS and have not been translated to equivalent NZ IFRS amounts.
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Our relationships with various stakeholders 
have been highlighted throughout this report. 
The following table summarises the interaction 
we have had, and will continue to have, with 
our stakeholders.

Stakeholder
Interaction

Stakeholder Interaction Key Interests and Concerns How We Respond

Generation 
Communities

As required community/stakeholder 
meetings on key topics of interest

Regular community group meetings

Stakeholder surveys

Charitable donations and 
community projects

Community Awards Programme

Impact of electricity generation on 
communities including transport of 
goods and staff

Impact on recreational areas around 
generation sites

Impact on local employment

Contribution to economic and 
sustainable development of affected 
communities

Targeting 100 per cent compliance 
with consent conditions

Mitigation projects

Environmental management systems

Policy of hiring locally where local 
skills and expertise are available

Sponsorship and management of 
local community awards

Tangata Whenua Regular formal and informal 
meetings with iwi at 
generation sites

Minimisation of any ongoing impact 
and degradation on tangata whenua 
cultural and spiritual values

Minimisation of, or where 
appropriate mitigation for,  ongoing 
environmental footprint 

Seek to understand and 
acknowledge tangata whenua 
regarding electricity schemes

Seek to understand and 
acknowledge the impact of 
activities on the values held by 
tangata whenua

Where possible and appropriate, 
reach mitigation agreements with 
iwi impacted by operations

Customers Customer interaction through 
customer service staff, meter 
readers, account managers and 
community relation activities

Customer surveys

Customer newsletters

Website

Cost, reliability of and access to 
electricity supply

Customer service and satisfaction

Energy effi ciency and renewable 
generation

Company reputation

Treat all customers fairly and 
with respect

Be aware of, and seek to minimise, 
risk for vulnerable customers

Provide energy effi ciency advice 
to customers

Aim to provide the highest level 
of service

Deliver open and transparent 
pricing/billing

Employees Staff surveys

Staff newsletter

Intranet

Direct engagement on key topics 
of interest

Staff committee

Executive team’s staff updates

Inter-team challenges, sports and 
fun evenings

Employee involvement in 
community activity

Work/life balance

Achieving and maintaining zero 
health and safety incidents

Competitive rates of pay

Being a socially and environmentally 
responsible employer

Training and development

Being regarded and respected as 
a responsible employer and an 
employer of choice

Monitor staff work levels, 
performance and feedback

Provide leadership development 
programme

Promote wellness programme

Deliver market based remuneration

Keep employees well informed 
about our business

Promote internally for 75% 
of positions

Subsidise life, trauma and income 
protection insurance

BUILDING SUCCESSFUL 
RELATIONSHIPS
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continued...

Stakeholder Interaction Key Interests and Concerns How We Respond

Special Interest 
Groups

Meetings to discuss key topics 
of interest

Partnerships and funding to deliver, 
where appropriate, community 
projects

Respond to information requests

Membership of relevant 
organisations

Community Connect website

Contribution to climate change

Impact on local communities – 
positive and negative

Show an interest in and ability to 
support community development

Promotion of and support for 
community voluntary sector

Contribution to climate 
change strategy

Submit on the Ministerial Review of 
Electricity Market Performance and 
other key energy policy documents

Develop renewable electricity 
generation 

Government Briefi ngs with Ministers and offi cials

Submissions on policy

Contribution to development 
of policy

Participation in working groups, 
conferences and meetings

Security of supply

Ensuring company corporate social 
responsibility

Assist with development of climate 
change strategy

Engage with the Government and 
other stakeholders and submit on 
the Ministerial Review of Electricity 
Market Performance and other key 
energy policy documents

Develop renewable generation

Electricity Sector Submissions on electricity 
sector policy

Participation in utility forums

Working with other industry 
stakeholders on mutual interests 
related to planning and regulation

Security of supply

Submit on the Ministerial Review of 
Electricity Market Performance

Participate in working groups, 
conferences and other key forums 
on key topics of mutual interest

Suppliers and 
Contractors

Contractual arrangements

Procurement policy

Policies, procedures and 
requirements are clearly understood

Development and implementation 
of a sustainable procurement policy

General Community Media liaison

Public meetings

Direct mail communications

Advertising

Website

Direct community involvement

Keeping the lights on uninterrupted

Contribution to climate change

Cost and access to energy

Impact on local communities 
positive and negative

Climate change strategy

Submit on the Ministerial Review 
of Electricity Market Performance

Direct community involvement, 
interaction, sponsorship and support

Shareholders Annual meeting

Board representatives

Reports and publications

Sustainable earnings

Growth

Shareholder value

Considered economic investment

Deliver sustainable shareholder 
returns
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Corporate 
Governance 
Statement

ROLE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Directors are elected by the shareholders 
and are responsible to the shareholders for the 
performance of the Group. Their focus is to 
enhance the interests of shareholders and other 
key stakeholders and to ensure the Group is 
properly managed. The Board draws on relevant 
corporate governance best practice principles 
to assist and contribute to the performance of 
the Group.

The Board has developed a charter that 
outlines responsibilities that encompass 
the following:
 setting the strategic direction of TrustPower 

and monitoring management’s implementation 
of that strategy;

 selecting and appointing (and, if appropriate, 
removing from offi ce) the Chief Executive, 
determining his/her conditions of service and 
monitoring his/her performance against 
established objectives;

 ratifying the appointment (and, if appropriate, 
removing from offi ce) the Chief Financial 
Offi cer and Company Secretary;

 ratifying the remuneration of senior 
management consistent with their 
employment agreements;

 monitoring fi nancial outcomes and the 
integrity of reporting, and, in particular, 
approving annual budgets and longer-term 
strategic and business plans;

 setting specifi c limits of authority for 
management to commit to new expenditure, 
enter contracts or acquire businesses 
without prior Board approval;

 ensuring that effective audit, risk 
management and compliance systems are in 
place to protect the Company’s assets and 
to minimise the possibility of the Group 
operating beyond legal requirements or 
beyond acceptable risk parameters;

 monitoring compliance with regulatory 
requirements (including continuous disclosure) 
and setting ethical standards and then 
monitoring compliance with those standards;

 reviewing, on a regular basis, senior 
management succession planning and 
development; and

 ensuring effective and timely reporting to 
shareholders. 
The Board has nine scheduled one day 

meetings, an extended strategic planning meeting 

at least once a year, at least four Audit Committee 
meetings and several unscheduled meetings to 
consider and/or review substantial projects and 
any other special circumstances that may arise 
from time to time.

The full Board determines the board size and 
composition, subject to limits imposed by the 
Company’s Constitution which is required to comply 
with the NZX Listing Rules. The Constitution 
provides for a minimum of three Directors and a 
maximum of seven. 

The Constitution and NZX Listing Rules also 
require that while there are a total of six or seven 
Directors, two must be independent Directors. 
As at 31 March 2010, the Board has determined 
that the independent Directors of TrustPower are 
RP Carter, GJC Swier, and IS Knowles and the 
non-independent Directors of TrustPower are 
MJ Cooney, BJ Harker, and HRL Morrison.

The Board has established two standing 
subcommittees being; the Audit Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Board has established a standing Audit 
Committee consisting of three Board members. 
The Committee meets at least four times a year. 
Members of the Committee are: GJC Swier 
(Chairman), BJ Harker, and RP Carter.

The role of the Audit Committee is formally 
recorded in a charter document approved by the 
Board of Directors. The primary objective of the 
Committee, as set out in the charter, is to assist 
the Board in fulfi lling its responsibilities relating to 
accounting and reporting practices of the 
Group. In particular, the Committee’s main 
responsibilities are to:
 review and report to the Board on the annual 

report, the interim fi nancial report and all 
other fi nancial information published by the 
Group or released to the market;

 assist the Board in reviewing the 
effectiveness of the organisation’s internal 
control environment; 

 determine the scope of the internal audit 
function and ensure that its resources are 
adequate and used effectively, including 
co-ordination with external auditors;

 oversee the effective operation of the risk 
management framework;

 recommend to the Board the appointment, 
removal and remuneration of the external 

auditors, and review the terms of their 
engagement, and the scope and quality of 
the audit; and

 review and approve, within established 
procedures, and before commencement, the 
nature and scope of non-audit services being 
provided by the external auditors. These 
procedures include quantitative and qualitative 
thresholds for the review, and include all 
relatively signifi cant projects.
In fulfi lling its responsibilities, the Audit 

Committee receives regular reports from 
management and the internal and external 
auditors. It also meets with the internal and 
external auditors at least three times a year – 
more frequently if necessary. The internal and 
external auditors have a clear line of direct 
communication at any time to either the 
Chairperson of the Audit Committee or the 
Chairperson of the Board.

THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Board has established a Remuneration 
Committee which has two Directors as 
members, BJ Harker and GJC Swier. The role of 
the Remuneration Committee is formally 
recorded in a charter document approved by the 
Board of Directors.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration 
Committee are to: 
 help enable the Company to attract, retain 

and motivate executives and Directors who 
will create value for shareholders;

 fairly and reasonably reward executives 
having regard to the performance of the 
Company, the performance of the executives 
and the general pay environment; and

 help the Company comply with the provisions 
of the Employment Relations Act 2000, the 
Companies Act 1993, the NZX Listing Rules 
and any other relevant legal requirements.

The responsibilities of the Committee include:
 reviewing and recommending to the Board 

for approval the remuneration policy for 
Directors and senior executives and ensuring 
that the structure of the policy allows the 
Company to attract and retain Directors and 
senior executives of suffi cient calibre to 
facilitate the effi cient and effective 
management of the Company’s operations;

 annual review and recommendation to the 
Board for approval of the remuneration 
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packages of all Directors and senior 
executives of the Company;

 with reference to the Board, managing the 
employment or removal of the Chief Executive 
and negotiation of employment terms;

 participation in the process of employment 
of the Chief Financial Offi cer and 
recommendation to the Board of its 
confi dence in any appointment; and

 establishment of appropriate performance 
criteria, from time to time, for short and long 
term employee incentive schemes and to 
make recommendations to the Board. 

OTHER SUB COMMITTEES
The Board has established a sub committee 
comprising BJ Harker, MJ Cooney and 
RP Carter to oversee any transaction to be 
undertaken by the Company in relation to 
on-market share buybacks.

REVIEW OF BOARD PERFORMANCE
An annual review of the performance of the 
Board and individual Directors is undertaken by 
the Chairman. This review is facilitated by an 
independent consultant and incorporates the 
feedback of all Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH NZX CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE BEST PRACTICE CODE 
AND OTHER GUIDELINES
As a listed issuer TrustPower is required to 
disclose in its Annual Report whether, and to 
what extent, its corporate governance principles 
materially differ from the NZX Corporate 
Governance Best Practice Code.

TrustPower believes that it complies in all 
material respects with the Code. However, it 
should be noted that the TrustPower Board has 
chosen not to constitute a Nominations Committee 
as recommended by the Code. The Board has 
decided that Director nominations are able to be 
handled more effectively by the full Board.

CODE OF ETHICS
A Code of Ethics has been developed and 
approved by the Board. TrustPower is committed 
to maintaining the highest standards of honesty, 
integrity and ethical conduct and has adopted a 
Code of Ethics to deter wrongdoing and to promote:
 honest and ethical conduct, including the 

ethical handling of actual or apparent 

confl icts of interest between personal and 
professional relationships;

 full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable 
disclosure in reports and documents fi led by 
the Company and in other public 
communications made by the Company;

 compliance with applicable laws, rules 
and regulations;

 internal reporting to the Board of Directors of 
violations of this Code of Ethics; and

 accountability for adherence to the Code 
of Ethics.
The Code of Ethics is not an exhaustive list 

of acceptable or non-acceptable behaviour, 
rather it is intended to guide decisions so they 
are consistent with TrustPower’s values, 
business goals and legal and policy obligations.

Failure to follow the Code of Ethics may lead to 
disciplinary action being taken, which may include 
dismissal. The Code of Ethics applies to the Board 
of Directors and the Company’s employees.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Group has adopted a system of internal 
control. The system is based upon written 
procedures, policies, guidelines and 
organisational structures that provide an 
appropriate division of responsibility, sound risk 
management, a programme of internal audit, 
and the careful selection and training of 
qualifi ed personnel.

While the Board acknowledges that it is 
responsible for the overall control framework of 
the Group, it recognises that no cost effective 
internal control system will preclude all errors 
and irregularities.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group has developed a comprehensive, 
enterprise-wide risk management framework. 
Management actively participate in the 
identifi cation, assessment, and monitoring of 
new and existing risks. Particular attention is 
given to market risks that could impact on the 
Group. Management undertake regular reporting 
to appraise the Audit Committee and the Board 
of the Company’s risks and the treatment of 
those risks.

The Audit Committee reviews and if 
considered satisfactory, recommends for 
approval by the Board annually, the Company’s 
insurance programme.

WHOLESALE ELECTRICITY 
TRADING POLICY
The Group has adopted a Wholesale Electricity 
Trading Policy to manage the risk relating to the 
purchasing of electricity from the wholesale 
electricity market. Derivative instruments can be 
used to set the price of electricity at a future 
nominated time. The Wholesale Electricity 
Trading Policy allows wholesale electricity trading 
to occur within risk limits set by the Board.

TREASURY POLICY
The Group has a Board approved Treasury 
Policy to manage fi nance, interest rate, foreign 
exchange and foreign investment risks. The 
Policy approves the use of certain instruments 
for risk management purposes, and it prohibits 
any activity that is purely speculative in nature. It 
also sets out exposure limits, delegated 
authorities and internal controls. The Policy is 
reviewed by management annually and 
independently every three years.

DELEGATED AUTHORITIES POLICY
The Group has a Delegated Authorities Policy in 
place that has been approved by the Board. The 
Policy provides limited authority to certain Group 
executives to purchase goods and services, 
enter into sales contracts and approve credit, 
sign deeds, indemnities and guarantees, and 
sign other contracts and documents. The Policy 
is reviewed annually.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY
The Group recognises the importance of 
environmental issues and is committed to the 
highest levels of performance. To help meet this 
objective the Group has developed and is 
proactively implementing both environmental 
policies and a comprehensive environmental 
management system. These have been 
established to facilitate the systematic 
identifi cation of environmental issues and to 
ensure that they are managed in a structured 
manner. These measures allow the Group to:
 monitor its compliance with all relevant 

legislation;
 continually assess and improve the impact of 

its operations on the environment;
 encourage employees to actively participate 

in the management of environmental issues;
 use energy and other resources effi ciently;
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 encourage the adoption of similar standards 
by the Group’s principal suppliers, 
contractors and distributors; and

 ensure procedures are in place to 
appropriately deal with any adverse 
environmental event that may occur.

GROUP INFORMATION POLICY
The following is the Group’s policy regarding the 
disclosure of Group information:

No Director of the Group may disclose 
information which that Director has received in 
his or her capacity as a Director or employee of 
the Group, being information that would not 
otherwise be available to the Director, to;
(a) a person whose interests that Director 

represents; or
(b) a person in accordance with whose 

directions or instructions the Director may be 
required, or is accustomed to act in relation 
to the Director’s powers and duties,

without the prior consent of a subcommittee of 
the Board established to authorise the disclosure. 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
Where any TrustPower Director has a confl ict of 
interest or is otherwise interested in any 
transaction, that Director is required to disclose 
his or her confl ict of interest, and thereafter 

neither participate in the discussion nor vote in 
relation to the relevant matter. The Company 
maintains a register of disclosed interests.

INSIDER TRADING
In order to protect TrustPower’s reputation and 
safeguard employees who may want to buy or 
sell TrustPower securities, the Company’s 
Securities Trading Policy requires an approved 
procedure to be followed by all staff and 
Directors. Certain employees of the Company 
are required to make additional disclosures 
under the Securities Markets Act 1988.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY
TrustPower has established a Whistleblowing 
Policy in order to facilitate the disclosure and 
impartial investigation of any serious 
wrongdoing. This policy advises employees of 
their right to disclose serious wrongdoing, and 
sets out TrustPower’s internal procedures for 
receiving and dealing with such disclosures. 
The policy is consistent with, and facilitates, the 
Protected Disclosures Act 2000.

OTHER CORPORATE POLICIES
The Group has a number of other policies 
covering but not limited to human resource 
activities, health and safety, buildings and 

security, and disaster recovery planning. 
These policies are regularly reviewed and 
approved by senior management and where 
appropriate the Board.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Group has established an outsourced 
internal audit function that is responsible for 
monitoring the Group’s system of internal fi nancial 
control and the integrity of the fi nancial information 
reported to the Board. Internal audit operates 
independently from the Board and reports its 
fi ndings directly to the Audit Committee. Internal 
audit liaises closely with the external auditors, 
who review the internal audit work undertaken to 
the extent necessary to support their audit opinion. 

THE ROLE OF SHAREHOLDERS
The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are 
informed of all major developments affecting the 
Group’s state of affairs. Information is communicated 
to shareholders in the annual, interim reports, 
and various announcements to NZX. Quarterly 
operational information is also provided following 
the end of each quarter via NZX announcement. 
The Board encourages full participation of 
shareholders at the annual meeting to ensure a 
high level of accountability and identifi cation with 
the Group’s strategies and goals. 



The Directors are pleased to present the
fi nancial statements of TrustPower Limited and 
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2010. 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring
that the fi nancial statements give a true and fair 
view of the fi nancial position of the Company
and the Group as at 31 March 2010 and their 
fi nancial performance and cash fl ows for the 
year ended on that date. 

The Directors consider that the fi nancial
statements of the Company and the Group have 
been prepared using appropriate accounting 
policies, consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable judgements and estimates and that 
all relevant fi nancial reporting and accounting
standards have been followed.  

The Directors believe that proper accounting 
records have been kept that enable, with 

reasonable accuracy, the determination of the 
fi nancial positions of the Company and the 
Group and facilitate compliance of the fi nancial
statements with the Financial Reporting Act 1993.  

The Directors consider they have taken
adequate steps to safeguard the assets of the
Company and the Group to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’
Responsibility 
Statement
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CHAIRMAN
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DIRECTOR
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Auditors’ Report
To the shareholders of TrustPower Limited 

We have audited the financial statements on pages 41 to 75.  The financial statements provide information 
about the past financial performance and cash flows of the Company and Group for the year ended 31 March 
2010 and their financial position as at that date. This information is stated in accordance with the accounting 
policies set out on pages 45 to 49. 

This report is made solely to the Company's shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 205 (1) of 
the Companies Act 1993.  Our audit has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's 
shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose.  
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company's shareholders, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinion we 
have formed. 

Directors’ Responsibilities 
The Company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements 
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and Group as at 31 March 2010 and 
their financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities 
We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements presented by the 
Directors and reporting our opinion to you. 

Basis of Opinion 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  It also includes assessing: 
(a) the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial 

statements; and 
(b) whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and Group, 

consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in New Zealand.  We 
planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
are free from material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error.  In forming our opinion we also 
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements. 

We have no relationship with or interests in the Company or any of its subsidiaries other than in our capacities 
as auditors, tax advisors and providers of financial advisory services.   

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required. 

Unqualified Opinion 
In our opinion: 
(a) proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as appears from our examination 

of those records; and 
(b)  the financial statements on pages 41 to 75: 

(i) comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; 
(ii) comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and 
(iii) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and Group as at 31 March 

2010 and their financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

Our audit was completed on 14 May 2010 and our unqualified opinion is expressed as at that date. 

Chartered Accountants Auckland
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The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements

Income Statements
GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

For the year ended 31 March 2010 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Operating Revenue

Electricity revenue 6  717,349  744,762  682,766  721,421 

Carbon revenue  9,654  8,377  9,654  8,377 

Meter rental revenue  5,221  4,473  5,221  4,473 

Other customer fees and charges  3,800  3,518  3,800  3,519 

Telecommunications sales  19,672  17,024  19,672  17,024 

Other operating revenue  3,591  7,242  2,248  6,355 

 759,287  785,396  723,361  761,169 

Operating Expenses

Energy costs  136,893  207,525  136,893  207,525 

Generation production costs  35,787  30,341  30,275  27,187 

Line costs  223,027  202,284  223,027  202,284 

Market fees and costs  13,851  15,244  13,820  15,244 

Meter rental costs  3,237  2,716  3,237  2,716 

Other customer connection costs  2,053  1,613  2,053  1,613 

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment  549  93  549  162 

Employee benefi ts  28,734  26,263  26,646  24,592 

Telecommunications cost of sales  15,549  13,143  15,549  13,143 

Other operating expenses 7  25,726  24,746  45,643  38,746 

 485,406  523,968  497,692  533,212 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation, Fair Value Movements of 
Financial Instruments and Asset Impairments (EBITDAF)  273,881  261,428  225,669  227,957 

Impairment of assets 8  6,120  1,459  7,885  1,760 

Fair value (gains)/losses on fi nancial instruments 9  (12,509)  19,567  (3,537)  8,682 

Amortisation of intangible assets 23  5,657  5,690  5,657  5,690 

Depreciation 21  49,358  38,678  14,788  14,126 

Operating Profi t  225,255  196,034  200,876  197,699 

Interest paid 10  59,100  53,366  46,078  46,093 

Interest received 10  (385)  (999)  (1,190)  (4,329)

Net fi nance costs  58,715  52,367  44,888  41,764 

Profi t Before Income Tax  166,540  143,667  155,988  155,935 

Income tax expense 11  47,127  38,592  48,356  47,117 

Profi t After Tax Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company  119,413  105,075  107,632  108,818 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 5  37.8  33.3  34.1  34.5 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 5  37.8  33.2  34.1  34.4 
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Statements of Comprehensive Income
GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

For the year ended 31 March 2010 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Profi t after tax attributable to the shareholders of the Company  119,413  105,075  107,632  108,818 

Other Comprehensive Income

Fair value (losses)/gains on generation assets 14  (159)  259,684  -  120,537 

Currency translation differences on revaluation reserve 14  3,719  -  -  - 

Fair value gains/(losses) on cash fl ow hedges 16  23,746  (16,309)  23,746  (22,230)

Other currency translation differences 17  5,344  3,681  -  - 

Movements in employee share option reserve 17  160  65  160  65 

Tax effect of the following:

Fair value gains on generation assets 14  1,865  (55,599)  1,557  (11,337)

Fair value gains/(losses) on cash fl ow hedges 16  (7,182)  4,882  (7,182)  6,676 

Other currency translation differences 17  3,413  1,838  -  - 

Total Other Comprehensive Income  30,906  198,242  18,281  93,711 

Total Comprehensive Income  150,319  303,317  125,913  202,529 

Statements of Changes in Equity
GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

For the year ended 31 March 2010 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Total Comprehensive Income  150,319  303,317  125,913  202,529 

Issue of shares pursuant to the employee share option scheme 13  1,707  333  1,707  333 

Own shares purchased 13  -  (1,634)  -  (1,634)

Dividends paid 12  (144,949)  (129,273)  (144,949)  (129,273)

Total Movements in Equity  7,077  172,743  (17,329)  71,955 

Equity at the beginning of the year  1,430,069  1,257,326  1,222,584  1,150,629 

Equity at the end of the year  1,437,146  1,430,069  1,205,255  1,222,584 

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements
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The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements

Statements of Financial Position
GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

As at 31 March 2010 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the Company

Share capital 13  176,751  174,754  176,751  174,754 

Revaluation reserve 14  867,493  862,370  696,365  695,110 

Retained earnings 15  362,432  387,666  316,540  353,555 

Cash fl ow hedge reserve 16  15,406  (1,158)  15,406  (1,158)

Other reserves 17  15,064  6,437  193  323 

Total Equity  1,437,146  1,430,069  1,205,255  1,222,584 

Represented by:

Current Assets

Cash at bank 18  9,492  27,416  3,868  4,467 

Bond deposits on trust  2,300  2,700  2,300  2,700 

Accounts receivable and prepayments 19  117,453  73,750  111,604  68,861 

Derivative fi nancial instruments 20  5,182  2,738  5,182  2,738 

 134,427  106,604  122,954  78,766 

Non Current Assets

Term receivable  -  4,039  -  4,039 

Property, plant and equipment 21  2,366,252  2,372,896  1,546,599  1,546,467 

Derivative fi nancial instruments 20  20,340  3,542  19,499  3,542 

Investments in subsidiaries 22  -  -  326,409  368,014 

Other investments  2,195  521  8  - 

Intangible assets 23  35,583  39,516  35,583  39,516 

 2,424,370  2,420,514  1,928,098  1,961,578 

Total Assets  2,558,797  2,527,118  2,051,052  2,040,344 

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accruals 24  103,831  84,695  102,748  77,654 

Unsecured bank loans 25  193,904  -  -  - 

Derivative fi nancial instruments 20  4,287  3,501  3,809  3,501 

Taxation payable  7,078  3,220  6,439  1,422 

 309,100  91,416  112,996  82,577 

Non Current Liabilities

Unsecured bank loans 25  142,943  471,473  142,943  284,973 

Unsecured subordinated bonds 26  261,206  260,671  261,206  260,671 

Unsecured senior bonds 27  137,518  -  137,518  - 

Derivative fi nancial instruments 20  4,361  22,352  2,415  11,798 

Deferred tax liability 28  266,523  251,137  188,719  177,741 

 812,551  1,005,633  732,801  735,183 

Total Liabilities  1,121,651  1,097,049  845,797  817,760 

Net Assets  1,437,146  1,430,069  1,205,255  1,222,584 

Net Tangible Assets Per Share  $4.44  $4.41  $3.71  $3.75 
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Cash Flow Statements
GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

For the year ended 31 March 2010 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash was provided from:

Receipts from customers  758,427  808,204  723,003  788,166 

 758,427  808,204  723,003  788,166 

Cash was applied to:

Payments to suppliers and employees  493,004  563,400  483,078  549,448 

Taxation paid  31,314  30,587  31,219  30,466 

 524,318  593,987  514,297  579,914 

Net Cash from Operating Activities 29  234,109  214,217  208,706  208,252 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash was provided from:

Sale of property, plant and equipment  243  494  224  418 

Return of bond deposits on trust  400  -  400  - 

Return of electricity market security deposits  -  55,400  -  55,400 

Return of advances from subsidiaries  -  -  19,550  - 

Subsidiary purchased  1  -  -  - 

Interest received  559  1,393  17  4,328 

 1,203  57,287  20,191  60,146 

Cash was applied to:

Advances to subsidiaries  -  -  13,704  13,990 

Purchase of subsidiary  -  -  350  - 

Interest capitalised in construction of property, plant and equipment  -  3,556  -  371 

Lodgement of electricity market security deposits  -  55,400  -  55,400 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  33,886  191,562  15,692  15,650 

Purchase of other investments  1,674  -  8  - 

Purchase of intangible assets  7,886  4,941  7,886  4,941 

 43,446  255,459  37,640  90,352 

Net Cash used in Investing Activities  (42,243)  (198,172)  (17,449)  (30,206)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash was provided from:

Bank loan proceeds  79,700  319,355  79,700  245,861 

Senior bond issue proceeds  140,000  -  140,000  - 

Subordinated bond issue proceeds  -  100,000  -  100,000 

Issue of shares  1,707  333  1,707  333 

 221,407  419,688  221,407  346,194 

Cash was applied to:

Bond brokerage costs  2,630  1,317  2,630  1,317 

Purchase of own shares  -  1,634  -  1,634 

Repayment of subordinated bonds  -  50,511  -  50,511 

Repayment of bank loans  227,149  298,357  222,122  298,357 

Interest paid  57,759  53,748  43,562  44,819 

Dividends paid  144,949  129,273  144,949  129,273 

 432,487  534,840  413,263  525,911 

Net Cash used in Financing Activities  (211,080)  (115,152)  (191,856)  (179,717)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents and Bank Overdrafts  (19,214)  (99,107)  (599)  (1,671)

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at beginning of the year  27,416  115,198  4,467  6,138 

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts  1,290  11,325  -  - 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Bank Overdrafts at End of the Year  9,492  27,416  3,868  4,467 

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2010

NOTE 1
GENERAL INFORMATION

Reporting Entity

The principal activities of TrustPower Limited (the Company or Parent) and its subsidiaries (together the Group) are the development, ownership and operation of 
electricity generation facilities from renewable energy sources and the retail sale of electricity and telecommunications services to its customers. All signifi cant 
operations take place within New Zealand and Australia.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. The address of its registered offi ce is Truman Road, Te Maunga, 
Mount Maunganui. The Company is listed on the New Zealand Stock Exchange.

These fi nancial statements relate to the year ended 31 March 2010 and have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors (the Board) on 14 May 2010.

NOTE 2
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these audited fi nancial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied 
to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These audited fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (NZGAAP). They comply with 
New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS), International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and other applicable 
New Zealand Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate for profi t-oriented entities.

Entities reporting

The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group are for the economic entity comprising TrustPower Limited and its subsidiaries. The consolidated entity is 
designated as a profi t-oriented entity for fi nancial reporting purposes.

Statutory base

TrustPower Limited is registered under the Companies Act 1993 and is an issuer in terms of the Financial Reporting Act 1993. The fi nancial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and the Companies Act 1993.

Historical cost convention

These fi nancial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modifi ed by the revaluation of generation assets, derivative fi nancial 
instruments, unsold emission rights and employee share options which are stated at fair value.

Estimates

The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with NZ IFRS requires the Group to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 
of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are signifi cant to the fi nancial statements are disclosed in note 37.

Functional and Presentation Currency

The functional and presentation currency used in the preparation of these fi nancial statements is New Zealand dollars, rounded to the nearest thousand. 

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than 
one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and they are no longer consolidated from 
the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair values of 
the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifi able 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, 
irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifi able net assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised 
directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are 
considered as an impairment indicator of the assets transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.3 SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating 
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identifi ed as the Board.

2.4 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for 
impairment. A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

2.5 FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group classifi es all of its investments as fi nancial assets at fair value through the profi t or loss, held to maturity fi nancial assets or loans and receivables. The 
classifi cation depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classifi cation of its investments at initial recognition. 

Financial assets at fair value through the profi t or loss

Financial assets at fair value through the profi t or loss are fi nancial assets held for trading. A fi nancial asset is classifi ed in this category if it is acquired principally for 
the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are classifi ed as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classifi ed as 
non-current assets where the remaining maturity of the asset is greater than 12 months; they are classifi ed as current assets when the remaining maturity of the 
asset is less than 12 months.
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Held to maturity fi nancial assets

Held to maturity fi nancial assets are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments and fi xed maturities other than those that meet the 
defi nition of loans and receivables that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold until maturity. These assets are recognised initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any provision for impairment.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current 
assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classifi ed as non-current assets. Advances to New Zealand 
based subsidiaries are interest free while advances to overseas based subsidiaries incur interest at a market rate.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of fi nancial assets are recognised on the trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all fi nancial assets not carried at fair value through the profi t or loss. Financial assets 
carried at fair value through profi t or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash fl ows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership. 

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss’ category are presented in the income statement 
within fair value movements of fi nancial instruments, in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss is 
recognised in the income statement as part of other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a fi nancial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Group 
establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arms length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially 
the same, discounted cash fl ow analysis and option pricing models, making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specifi c inputs.

Impairment of fi nancial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a fi nancial asset or a group of fi nancial assets is impaired. 
Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in note 2.4.

2.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Generation assets are shown at fair value, based on at least three-yearly valuations by independent external valuers, less subsequent depreciation. This valuation is 
reviewed annually and if it is considered that there has been a material change then a new independent valuation is undertaken. Any accumulated depreciation at 
the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other 
property is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also 
include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash fl ow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

The cost of assets constructed by the Group, including capital work in progress, includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour specifi cally 
associated, resource management consent costs, and an appropriate proportion of variable and fi xed overheads. Financing costs on uncompleted capital work in 
progress are capitalised at the specifi c project fi nance interest rate, where these meet certain time and monetary materiality limits. Costs cease to be capitalised as 
soon as the asset is ready for productive use and do not include any ineffi ciency costs.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset only when it is probable that future economic benefi ts will fl ow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced item is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the income statement during the fi nancial period in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of generation assets are credited to the revaluation reserve in equity. Decreases that offset previous 
increases of the same asset are charged against the revaluation reserve directly in equity. All other decreases are charged to the income statement.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on all other property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method at rates calculated to allocate each 
asset’s cost over its estimated useful life. Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis as follows:

Freehold buildings 2% Generation assets 0.5-8%
Metering equipment 5% Plant and equipment 10-33%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant 
and equipment, in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings.

2.7 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Investments in, and advances to, subsidiaries are recorded at cost less any impairment writedowns.

2.8 EMISSION RIGHTS

The Group receives tradable emission rights from specifi c energy production levels of certain renewable generation facilities. The future revenue arising from the 
sale of these emission rights is a key matter in deciding whether to proceed with construction of the generation facility and is considered to be part of the value of 
the generation assets recorded in the statement of fi nancial position. Proceeds received on the sale of emission rights are recorded as deferred income in the 
statement of fi nancial position until the committed energy production level pertaining to the emission right sold has been generated. 

Emission rights produced are recognised in the statement of fi nancial position if the right has been verifi ed, it is probable that expected future economic benefi ts 
will fl ow to the Group, and the rights can be measured reliably. Emission rights are initially measured at cost. After initial recognition, the emission rights are carried 
at fair value with any changes taken to the income statement. Fair value is determined by reference to an active market. If the emission rights cannot be valued 
because there is no active market, the emission rights are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.  

2.9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer base assets

Costs incurred in acquiring customers from other electricity supply companies and telecommunications companies are recorded as a customer base intangible 
asset. The customer bases are amortised on a straight line basis over the period of expected benefi t. This period has been assessed as 20 years for electricity 
customer bases and 5 years for telecommunication customer bases. These useful lives are reviewed annually with reference to historical levels of churn experienced in 
the relevant markets. The carrying value of the customer bases is reviewed annually by the Directors and adjusted where it is considered necessary. The carrying 
values are reviewed with reference to the expected future cash fl ows from these customers. The expected future cash fl ows are produced via internal forecasting. 
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Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specifi c software. These costs are amortised 
over three years on a straight line basis except for major pieces of billing system software which are amortised over no more than seven years on a straight line basis.

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the 
development of identifi able and unique software products controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate economic benefi ts exceeding costs for more 
than one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Costs include the employee costs incurred as a result of developing software and an appropriate portion of 
relevant overheads. Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives (not exceeding three years). 

All of the Group’s intangible assets have fi nite lives.

2.10 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable for the sale of electricity, telecommunications and related services in the ordinary course of 
the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of goods and services tax, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

Customer consumption of electricity is measured and billed by calendar month for half hourly metered customers and in line with meter reading schedules for 
non-half hourly metered customers. Accordingly revenues from electricity sales include an estimated accrual for units sold but not billed at the end of the reporting 
period for non-half hourly metered customers. 

Customer consumption of telecommunications services is measured and billed according to monthly billing cycles. Accordingly revenues from telecommunications 
services provided include an estimated accrual for services provided but not billed at the end of the reporting period.

Meter rental revenue is charged and recognised on a per day basis.

Other customer fees and charges are recognised when the service is provided.

Operating lease revenue earned by Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd is recognised when the services have been performed under the terms of the arrangement. 
Refer to note 6 for further details.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.11 EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Employee entitlements to salaries and wages, non monetary benefi ts, annual leave and other benefi ts are recognised when they accrue to employees. This includes 
the estimated liability for salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period. 

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the granting of the 
options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted, 
excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profi tability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in 
assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. At the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options 
that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital when the options are exercised.

The Group also recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes into consideration the movement in the Company’s share price. 
The expense is recognised over the three year vesting period of the scheme. The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation. 

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profi t attributable to the Company’s shareholders 
after certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Termination benefi ts

Termination benefi ts are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for these benefi ts. The Group recognises termination benefi ts when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of 
current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefi ts as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Benefi ts falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value.

2.12 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Items included in the fi nancial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (the functional currency). These fi nancial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars, which is the Parent’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are converted to New Zealand dollars at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities arising from foreign currency transactions are translated at closing rates at the end of the reporting period. Gains or losses from currency translation on 
these items are included in the income statement.

The results and fi nancial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinfl ationary economy) that have a functional currency different 
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

•  assets and liabilities for each statement of fi nancial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of the reporting period

•  income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates

•  all resulting exchange rate differences are recognised in separate components of equity.

On consolidation, foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other currency 
instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or 
sold, such foreign exchange differences are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

2.13 GENERATION DEVELOPMENT

The Group incurs costs in the exploration, evaluation, consenting and construction of generation assets. Costs incurred are expensed in the income statement 
unless such costs are highly likely to be recouped through successful development of, and generation of electricity from, a particular project. Where costs meet this 
criteria and are capitalised they will ultimately be amortised over the estimated useful life of a project once it is completed. The Directors review the status of 
capitalised development expenditure on a regular basis and in the event that a project is abandoned, or if the Directors consider the expenditure to be impaired, 
a write off or provision is made in the year in which that assessment is made. 

2.14 BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the term of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classifi ed as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period.
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2.15 INSURANCE 

The Group has property, plant and equipment which is predominately concentrated at power station locations that has the potential to sustain major losses 
through damage to plant with resultant consequential costs.

To minimise the fi nancial impact of such exposures, the major portion of the risk is insured by taking out appropriate insurance policies with appropriate 
counterparties. Any uninsured loss is recognised in the income statement at the time the loss is incurred.

2.16 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets that have an indefi nite useful life, for example land, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to 
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifi able cash fl ows (cash-generating units). Assets other than goodwill that suffer an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end 
of each reporting period. 

2.17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of fi nancial position.

2.18 CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The following are the defi nitions used in the cash fl ow statement:

•  cash is considered to be cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks, net of bank overdrafts

•  operating activities include all activities that are not investing or fi nancing activities

•  investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition, holding and disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investments

•  fi nancing activities are those activities, which result in changes in the size and composition of the capital structure of the Group. This includes both equity and 
debt not falling within the defi nition of cash. Dividends paid in relation to the capital structure are included in fi nancing activities.

2.19 GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)

The income statement and cash fl ow statement have been prepared so that all components are stated exclusive of GST. All items in the statement of fi nancial 
position are stated exclusive of GST, with the exception of billed receivables and payables which include GST invoiced.

2.20 INCOME TAX

The income tax expense comprises both current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised directly in equity, in which case the income tax is recognised directly in equity.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the fi nancial statements. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction other than 
a business combination that at the time of transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the 
extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax liability (asset) is settled (realised).

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profi t will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

2.21 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are periodically remeasured at their fair value. The method of 
recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The 
Group designates certain derivatives as one of the following:

•  hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a fi rm commitment (fair value hedge)

•  hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash fl ow hedges)

•  hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management 
objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing 
basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash fl ows of hedged items. The fair 
values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in note 20. Movements on the cash fl ow hedge reserve in equity are shown in the 
statement of comprehensive income. The full fair value of a derivative is classifi ed as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the derivative is 
more than 12 months; it is classifi ed as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the derivative is less than 12 months. 

Fair Value Hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with any changes in the 
fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash Flow Hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash fl ow hedges are recognised in equity. The gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item affects profi t or loss. However, when the forecast 
transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-fi nancial asset, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and 
included in the measurement of the cost of the asset.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that 
time remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.

Net Investment Hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash fl ow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective 
portion of the hedge is recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are 
recognised immediately in the income statement.
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2.22 SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classifi ed as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 

Where the Company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury stock), the consideration paid is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s 
equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received is included in equity attributable 
to the Company’s equity holders.

2.23 TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.24 LEASES

Leases in which a signifi cant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classifi ed as operating leases. Payments made under 
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.25 DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s fi nancial statements in the period in which the dividend is approved 
by the Board.

2.26 OTHER INVESTMENTS

Other investments include investments in non-group companies as well as insurance investments. Insurance investments include government stock and money 
market deposits. 

2.27 COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Impairment of non-fi nancial assets has been classifi ed in the 2010 fi nancial statements below the EBITDAF line on the income statement. This has increased 
EBITDAF for the Group by $6,120,000 in the current year with an adjustment made to the comparative 2009 fi gure of $1,459,000. There was no effect on operating 
profi t. This change has been made to ensure consistency with the fi nancial statements of Infratil Limited, the Group’s parent company. Except where additional 
disclosure is required by the adoption of new fi nancial reporting standards, as per note 2.28, all other comparative balances are consistent with the prior year.

2.28 ADOPTION STATUS OF RELEVANT NEW FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

The following new standards and amendments to standards are mandatory for the fi rst time for the fi nancial year beginning 1 April 2009.

•  NZ IAS 1 (revised), Presentation of Financial Statements. The revised standard prohibits the presentation of items of income and expenses (that is ‘non-owner 
changes in equity’) in the statement of changes in equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes in equity’ to be presented separately from owner changes in equity. 
All ‘non-owner changes in equity’ are required to be shown in a performance statement.

 Entities can choose whether to present one performance statement (the statement of comprehensive income) or two statements (the income statement and 
statement of comprehensive income).

 The Group has elected to present two statements: an income statement and a statement of comprehensive income. The fi nancial statements have been 
prepared under the revised disclosure requirements.

•  NZ IFRS 8, Operating Segments. NZ IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14, Segment Reporting. It requires a ‘management approach’ under which segment information is 
presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. This has resulted in three reportable segments being presented. 

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating 
decision-maker has been identifi ed as the Board. Comparatives for 2009 have been restated. Furthermore, the Group has early adopted the amendment to NZ 
IFRS 8 (effective 1 January 2010) that clarifi es that entities only need to disclose information about segment assets if that information is regularly reviewed by 
the chief operating decision maker.

•  NZ IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – Disclosures (amendment). The amendment requires enhanced disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. 
In particular, the amendment requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of a fair value measurement hierarchy. As the change in accounting policy 
only results in additional disclosures, there is no impact on earnings per share.

•  NZ IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (amendment). The amendment deals with vesting conditions and cancellations. It clarifi es that vesting conditions are service 
conditions and performance conditions only. Other features of a share-based payment are not vesting conditions. These features would need to be included in 
the grant date fair value for transactions with employees and others providing similar services; they would not impact the number of awards expected to vest or 
valuation thereof subsequent to grant date. All cancellations, whether by the entity or by other parties, should receive the same accounting treatment. The 
Group and Company have adopted NZ IFRS 2 (amendment) from 1 January 2009. The amendment does not have a material impact on the Group’s or the 
Company’s fi nancial statements.

•  NZ IAS 23 Borrowing Costs. This standard requires the capitalisation of borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. As this is consistent with the Group’s existing accounting policies the adoption of this standard does not have 
a material impact on the Group’s or the Company’s fi nancial statements.

The Group has elected not to early adopt the following applicable standards which have been issued but are not yet effective:

•  NZ IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised), (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The revised standard requires the 
effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in equity if there is no change in control and these transactions will no longer result in 
goodwill or gains and losses. The standard also specifi es the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is remeasured to fair value, and a 
gain or loss is recognised in profi t or loss. The Group will apply NZ IAS 27 (revised) prospectively to transactions with non-controlling interests from 1 April 2010.

•  NZ IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised), (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition 
method to business combinations, with some signifi cant changes. For example, all payments to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value at the 
acquisition date, with contingent payments classifi ed as debt subsequently re-measured through the income statement. There is a choice on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair vale or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net 
assets. All acquisition-related costs should be expensed. The Group will apply NZ IFRS 3 (revised) prospectively to all business combinations from 1 April 2010.

•  NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). The standard replaces part of NZ IAS 39 and establishes two 
primary measurement categories for fi nancial assets: amortised cost and fair value, with classifi cation depending on an entity’s business model and the 
contractual cash fl ow characteristics of the fi nancial asset. The Group is currently in the process of evaluating the potential effect of this standard.

The adoption of these standards is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s or the Company’s fi nancial statements.
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NOTE 3
UNDERLYING EARNINGS AFTER TAX

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Profi t After Tax Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company  119,413  105,075  107,632  108,818 

Fair value (gains) / losses on fi nancial instruments 9  (12,509)  19,567  (3,537)  8,682 

Impairment of software intangible asset 8  6,162  -  6,162  - 

Adjustments before income tax  (6,347)  19,567  2,625  8,682 

Change in income tax expense in relation to adjustments  3,753  (5,870)  1,061  (2,605)

Adjustments after income tax  (2,594)  13,697  3,686  6,077 

Underlying Earnings After Tax  116,819  118,772  111,318  114,895 

Underlying earnings after tax is presented to allow stakeholders to make an assessment and comparison of underlying earnings after removing the non-cash fair 
value movements in fi nancial instruments as well as impairment charges that management consider to be one off in nature.

NOTE 4
SEGMENT INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2010, the Group is organised into two main business segments:

•  development, ownership and operation of electricity generation facilities from renewable energy sources including the trading of energy with Retail and external 
parties (“Generation”)

•  purchase of energy from Generation and retail sale of electricity to customers (“Retail”)

The remaining activities of the Group are included in Other. This primarily relates to property services and some unallocated head offi ce functions.

The Board has further segregated Generation into New Zealand and Australian operations. Generation New Zealand includes the metering business which does not 
meet the criteria to be disclosed as a separate operating segment. Retail operates only in New Zealand and includes telecommunications operations which do 
not meet the criteria to be disclosed as a separate operating segment.

The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2010 are as follows:

 GENERATION 
 NEW ZEALAND 

 GENERATION 
 AUSTRALIA 

 RETAIL  OTHER  TOTAL 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Total segment revenue  192,016  35,970  686,394  2,261  916,641 

Inter-segment revenue  (155,177)  -  -  (2,177)  (157,354)

Revenue from external customers  36,839  35,970  686,394  84  759,287 

Adjusted EBITDAF  174,031  27,624  74,913  (2,051)  274,517 

Amortisation of intangible assets  -  -  3,808  1,849  5,657 

Depreciation  34,168  14,329  -  861  49,358 

Capital expenditure  19,012  82  -  10,175  29,269 

Asset impairment  -  (42)  -  6,162  6,120 

The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2009 are as follows:

Total segment revenue  197,087  24,191  719,498  2,478  943,254 

Inter-segment revenue  (155,614)  -  -  (2,244)  (157,858)

Revenue from external customers  41,473  24,191  719,498  234  785,396 

Adjusted EBITDAF  172,170  18,032  73,222  (2,130)  261,294 

Amortisation of intangible assets  -  -  3,808  1,882  5,690 

Depreciation  28,478  8,255  -  1,945  38,678 

Capital expenditure  22,056  62,221  -  7,978  92,255 

Asset impairment  1,459  -  -  -  1,459 

Inter-segment transactions are entered into under normal commercial terms and conditions that would also be available to unrelated third parties. The Board does 
not distinguish between revenue from internal or external customers when measuring the performance of segments. All revenue is reported to the Board on a basis 
consistent with that used in the income statement.

The Board assesses the performance of segments based on a measure of adjusted EBITDAF. This measure excludes the effects of non-operational expenditure or 
gains such as loss/gain on disposal or impairments of property, plant and equipment, fair value changes in foreign currency fi nancial assets/liabilities and costs of 
major business acquisitions.
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NOTE 4 CONTINUED

Interest income and expenditure and taxation costs are not allocated to segments as these activities are managed at a Group level by a central treasury function.

The Board does not segregate assets and liabilities in assessing Group performance.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

A reconciliation of adjusted EBITDAF to profi t before income tax is as follows:

GROUP

2010 2009

$000 $000

Adjusted EBITDAF  274,517  261,294 

Depreciation  (49,358)  (38,678)

Amortisation  (5,657)  (5,690)

Fair value gains/(losses) on fi nancial instruments  12,509  (19,567)

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (87)  227 

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (549)  (93)

Impairment of assets  (6,120)  (1,459)

Interest received  385  999 

Interest paid  (59,100)  (53,366)

Profi t before income tax  166,540  143,667 

NOTE 5
EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profi t attributable to the shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
on issue during the year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares outstanding to assume conversion of all 
potential dilutive ordinary shares.

GROUP PARENT

Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

Profi t attributable to the shareholders of the Company ($000)  119,413  105,075  107,632  108,818 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)  315,612  315,444  315,612  315,444 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)  37.8  33.3  34.1  34.5 

Profi t attributable to the shareholders of the Company ($000)  119,413  105,075  107,632  108,818 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue plus share options outstanding (thousands)  315,892  316,084  315,892  316,084 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)  37.8  33.2  34.1  34.4 

Underlying earnings after tax ($000) 3  116,819  118,772  111,318  114,895 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)  315,612  315,444  315,612  315,444 

Underlying earnings per share (cents per share)  37.0  37.7  35.3  36.4 

Underlying earnings after tax ($000) 3  116,819  118,772  111,318  114,895 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue plus share options outstanding (thousands)  315,892  316,084  315,892  316,084 

Diluted underlying earnings per share (cents per share)  37.0  37.6  35.2  36.3 

The share options outstanding referred to in the diluted earnings per share calculation relate to share options issued to certain employees.

NOTE 6
ELECTRICITY REVENUE

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Electricity sales  686,726  724,488  682,766  721,421 

Electricity lease revenue  30,623  20,274  -  - 

 717,349  744,762  682,766  721,421 

Electricity lease revenue is revenue recognised in connection with Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd’s (a subsidiary of the Company) Power Purchase Agreement to 
sell 90% of all energy generated by the Snowtown Wind Farm to a signifi cant Australian electricity retailer. This agreement has been deemed as an operating lease 
of the wind farm under NZ IFRS and all revenue under the contract accounted for as lease revenue. Because of the contract terms, in particular that the volume of 
energy supplied is variable dependent on the actual generation of the Snowtown Wind Farm, the future minimum payments under the term of the contract, that 
expires on 31 December 2018, are contingent in nature and therefore not able to be quantifi ed.
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NOTE 7
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Audit fees and expenses  213  239  179  210 

Fees paid for other audit related services provided by the auditors*  33  21  33  21 

Fees paid for taxation advice, compliance and planning services provided by the auditors  81  198  81  198 

Bad debts written off 38  2,374  1,904  2,374  1,904 

Directors’ fees 34  511  539  511  539 

Donations  753  639  734  639 

Loss/(gain) on foreign exchange  87  (227)  (1,183)  (1,546)

Generation development expenditure  9,146  8,474  7,822  5,868 

Other administration costs  12,417  12,780  13,734  14,417 

Rental and operating lease costs  111  179  21,358  16,496 

 25,726  24,746  45,643  38,746 

* Other audit related services provided by the auditors includes reviews of unaudited interim fi nancial statements, assistance with cost of capital determination and 
the audit of guaranteeing group fi nancial statements in relation to the issue of senior bonds.

NOTE 8
IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 21  -  1,459  -  180 

Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment 21  (42)  -  -  - 

Impairment of software intangible asset 23  6,162  -  6,162  - 

Impairment of advances to subsidiaries 22  -  -  1,723  1,580 

 6,120  1,459  7,885  1,760 

The impairment of software intangible asset relates to the partial abandonment of a project to replace the Group’s billing software which relates to the ‘Other’ 
segment as detailed in note 4. The recoverable amount of the asset has been determined as its value in use under the most likely option for the replacement of the 
billing software.

NOTE 9
FAIR VALUE GAINS/(LOSSES) ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The changes in the fair value of fi nancial instruments recognised in the income statement and the cash fl ow hedge reserve for the year to 31 March 2010 are 
summarised below:

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Recognised in the income statement $000 $000 $000 $000

Interest rate derivatives  14,348  (21,446)  5,376  (10,561)

Electricity price derivatives  (1,839)  1,879  (1,839)  1,879 

Exchange rate derivatives  -  -  -  - 

 12,509  (19,567)  3,537  (8,682)

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Recognised in the cash fl ow hedge reserve $000 $000 $000 $000

Interest rate derivatives  (68)  2,768  (68)  2,768 

Electricity price derivatives  18,419  (22,570)  18,419  (22,570)

Exchange rate derivatives  5,588  3,445  5,588  (2,451)

 23,939  (16,357)  23,939  (22,253)
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NOTE 10
FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Amortisation of debt issue costs  1,076  958  1,076  958 

Interest paid on unsecured bank loans  21,168  36,885  8,261  24,289 

Interest paid on unsecured subordinated bonds  22,281  19,804  22,281  19,804 

Interest paid on unsecured senior bonds  3,168  -  3,168  - 

Other interest costs and fees  11,407  1,620  11,292  1,413 

Interest capitalised in construction of property, plant and equipment  -  (5,901)  -  (371)

Total Interest Paid  59,100  53,366  46,078  46,093 

Interest received on cash at bank  385  999  18  1,675 

Interest received on intercompany advances  -  -  1,172  2,654 

Total Interest Received  385  999  1,190  4,329 

No interest was capitalised in the year to 31 March 2010. The capitalisation rate ranged from 7.8% to 9.1% in the year to 31 March 2009.

NOTE 11
INCOME TAX EXPENSE

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Profi t before income tax  166,540  143,667  155,988  155,935 

Tax on profi t @ 30%  49,962  43,100  46,796  46,781 

Tax effect of non-assessable revenue  (1,833)  (4,379)  2,566  465 

Income tax over provided in prior year  (1,002)  (129)  (1,006)  (129)

 47,127  38,592  48,356  47,117 

Represented by:

Current tax  35,094  41,169  43,002  48,351 

Deferred tax 28  12,033  (2,577)  5,354  (1,234)

 47,127  38,592  48,356  47,117 

The 30% tax rate used above is the corporate tax rate payable by New Zealand corporate entities on taxable profi t under New Zealand tax law.

NOTE 12
DIVIDENDS ON ORDINARY SHARES

GROUP & PARENT GROUP & PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Cents Per Share $000 $000

Dividends (forfeited)/reinstated  -  -  (113)  - 

Final dividend prior year  17.0  15.0  53,590  47,313 

Interim dividend paid current year  19.0  16.0  59,948  50,432 

Special dividend paid current year  10.0  10.0  31,524  31,528 

Supplementary dividend paid  -  -  161  4,135 

Foreign investor tax credit  -  -  (161)  (4,135)

 46.0  41.0  144,949  129,273 

Final partially imputed dividend declared subsequent to the end of the reporting period payable 
11 June 2010 to all shareholders on the register at 28 May 2010.  19.0  17.0  59,948  53,630 

Special unimputed dividend declared subsequent to end of the reporting period and paid 
8 June 2009 to all shareholders on the register at 29 May 2009  -  10.0  -  31,547 
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NOTE 13
SHARE CAPITAL

GROUP & PARENT GROUP & PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note 000’s of Shares $000 $000

Authorised and issued ordinary shares at beginning of year  315,236  315,417  174,754  176,055 
Own shares repurchased  -  (236)  -  (1,634)
Transfer from employee share option reserve 17  -  -  290  - 
Issue of shares pursuant to the employee share option scheme  280  55  1,707  333 

 315,516  315,236  176,751  174,754 

All shares rank equally with one vote attached to each share, have no par value and are fully paid.

On 15 May 2008, the Company announced a resolution allowing it to buy back up to 5,000,000 of its own shares. As at 31 March 2010 236,000 shares had been 
purchased at a total cost of $1,634,000. All shares repurchased were purchased through the NZX stock exchange at market price (2009: 236,000 shares at a total 
cost of $1,634,000). As at 31 March 2010 none of these shares had been reissued or cancelled.

NOTE 14
REVALUATION RESERVE

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  862,370  658,575  695,110  586,200 
Revaluation of generation assets 21  (159)  259,684  -  120,537 
Transfer (to)/from deferred tax liability 28  1,865  (55,599)  1,557  (11,337)
Transfer (to)/from retained earnings 15  (302)  (290)  (302)  (290)
Foreign exchange movements  3,719  -  -  - 

 867,493  862,370  696,365  695,110 

There are no restrictions on the distribution of this reserve to the equity holders of the Company.

NOTE 15
RETAINED EARNINGS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  387,666  411,574  353,555  373,720 
Profi t for the year  119,413  105,075  107,632  108,818 
Transfer (to)/from revaluation reserve 14  302  290  302  290 
Dividends on ordinary shares 12  (144,949)  (129,273)  (144,949)  (129,273)

 362,432  387,666  316,540  353,555 

NOTE 16
CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  (1,158)  10,269  (1,158)  14,396 
Fair value gains/(losses)  12,869  13,271  12,869  (55)
Tax on fair value gains/(losses)  (3,919)  (3,993)  (3,919)  23 
Transfers to energy cost expense  11,036  (22,175)  11,036  (22,175)
Tax on transfers to energy cost expense  (3,311)  6,653  (3,311)  6,653 
Transfers to property, plant and equipment  -  (7,405)  -  - 
Tax on transfers to property, plant and equipment  -  2,222  -  - 
Transfers to carbon revenue  (209)  -  (209)  - 
Tax on transfers to carbon revenue  63  -  63  - 
Transfers to interest paid  50  -  50  - 
Tax on transfers to interest paid  (15)  -  (15)  - 

 15,406  (1,158)  15,406  (1,158)
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NOTE 17
OTHER RESERVES

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Balance at beginning of year  6,114  595  -  - 

Transfer to deferred tax  3,413  1,838  -  - 

Currency translation differences  5,344  3,681  -  - 

 14,871  6,114  -  - 

Employee Share Option Reserve

Balance at beginning of year  323  258  323  258 

Transfer to share capital 13  (290)  -  (290)  - 

Fair value movements charged to the income statement  160  65  160  65 

 193  323  193  323 

Total Other Reserves  15,064  6,437  193  323 

NOTE 18
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND BANK OVERDRAFT

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Cash at bank  9,492  27,416  3,868  4,467 

Bank overdraft  -  -  -  - 

 9,492  27,416  3,868  4,467 

NOTE 19
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Billed debtors and unbilled sales  62,059  53,632  62,057  53,632 

Provision for doubtful debts 38  (2,000)  (1,600)  (2,000)  (1,600)

Electricity market receivables  32,369  9,248  28,732  6,294 

Other receivables  23,273  10,928  21,018  9,042 

Prepayments  1,752  1,542  1,797  1,493 

 117,453  73,750  111,604  68,861 

NOTE 20
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Current

Interest rate derivative assets  15  -  15  - 

Electricity price derivative assets  4,118  2,738  4,118  2,738 

Exchange rate derivative assets  1,049  -  1,049  - 

 5,182  2,738  5,182  2,738 

Interest rate derivative liabilities  3,175  1,683  2,697  1,683 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  1,112  1,456  1,112  1,456 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  362  -  362 

 4,287  3,501  3,809  3,501 
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NOTE 20 CONTINUED GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Non-current

Interest rate derivative assets  3,903  3,156  3,062  3,156 

Electricity price derivative assets  14,348  386  14,348  386 

Exchange rate derivative assets  2,089  -  2,089  - 

 20,340  3,542  19,499  3,542 

Interest rate derivative liabilities  3,407  18,416  1,461  7,862 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  954  1,848  954  1,848 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  2,088  -  2,088 

 4,361  22,352  2,415  11,798 

See notes 37 and 38 for details on fair value estimation.

NOTE 21
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Generation Assets

Balance at beginning of year

Fair value  2,305,641  1,639,774  1,488,162  1,352,000 

Cost  -  206,795  -  772 

Capital work in progress  7,701  183,479  6,385  32,655 

Accumulated depreciation  -  (23,002)  -  (9,265)

 2,313,342  2,007,046  1,494,547  1,376,162 

Additions at cost  10,994  74,157  9,547  8,593 

Depreciation  (44,157)  (33,948)  (9,728)  (9,438)

Disposals at net book value  (661)  (353)  (661)  (332)

Foreign exchange movements  21,884  16,451  -  - 

Revaluations/transfers  (1,026)  249,989  (466)  119,562 

Balance at end of year

Fair value  2,326,464  2,305,641  1,487,035  1,488,162 

Cost  5,387  -  5,334  - 

Capital work in progress  13,150  7,701  10,598  6,385 

Accumulated depreciation  (44,625)  -  (9,728)  - 

 2,300,376  2,313,342  1,493,239  1,494,547 

Metering Equipment

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  64,840  60,820  64,840  60,820 

Accumulated depreciation  (33,277)  (30,656)  (33,277)  (30,656)

 31,563  30,164  31,563  30,164 

Additions at cost  3,600  4,020  3,600  4,020 

Depreciation  (2,804)  (2,621)  (2,804)  (2,621)

Disposals at net book value  -  -  -  - 

Transfers  40  -  40  - 

Balance at end of year

Cost  68,481  64,840  68,481  64,840 

Accumulated depreciation  (36,082)  (33,277)  (36,082)  (33,277)

 32,399  31,563  32,399  31,563 

Other Freehold Buildings

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  11,245  10,582  10,507  9,986 

Accumulated depreciation  (2,932)  (2,681)  (2,891)  (2,693)

 8,313  7,901  7,616  7,293 
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NOTE 21 CONTINUED GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Additions at cost  679  522  150  522 

Depreciation  (252)  (240)  (205)  (198)

Disposals at net book value  (4)  -  -  - 

Transfers  1,488  130  -  (1)

Balance at end of year

Cost  13,510  11,245  10,719  10,507 

Accumulated depreciation  (3,286)  (2,932)  (3,158)  (2,891)

 10,224  8,313  7,561  7,616 

Other Freehold Land

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  14,042  7,597  6,492  6,341 

Additions at cost  2,241  5,809  -  113 

Disposals at cost  -  -  -  - 

Transfers  (1,620)  636  (222)  38 

Balance at end of year

Cost  14,663  14,042  6,270  6,492 

Other Plant and Equipment

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  15,366  13,270  15,970  13,270 

Accumulated depreciation  (9,730)  (9,004)  (9,721)  (8,508)

 5,636  4,266  6,249  4,762 

Additions at cost  3,869  2,479  2,991  2,429 

Depreciation  (2,145)  (1,869)  (2,051)  (1,869)

Disposals at net book value  (127)  (234)  (112)  (234)

Foreign exchange movements  4  -  -  - 

Transfers  1,353  994  53  1,161 

Balance at end of year

Cost  19,730  15,366  18,168  15,970 

Accumulated depreciation  (11,140)  (9,730)  (11,038)  (9,721)

 8,590  5,636  7,130  6,249 

Total

Balance at beginning of year

Fair value  2,305,641  1,639,774  1,488,162  1,352,000 

Cost  105,493  299,064  97,809  91,189 

Capital work in progress  7,701  183,479  6,385  32,655 

Accumulated depreciation  (45,939)  (65,343)  (45,889)  (51,122)

 2,372,896  2,056,974  1,546,467  1,424,722 

Additions at cost  21,383  86,987  16,288  15,677 

Depreciation  (49,358)  (38,678)  (14,788)  (14,126)

Disposals at net book value  (792)  (587)  (773)  (566)

Foreign exchange movements  21,888  16,451  -  - 

Revaluations/transfers  235  251,749  (595)  120,760 

Balance at end of year

Fair value  2,326,464  2,305,641  1,487,035  1,488,162 

Cost  121,771  105,493  108,972  97,809 

Capital work in progress - generation assets  13,150  7,701  10,598  6,385 

Accumulated depreciation  (95,133)  (45,939)  (60,006)  (45,889)

 2,366,252  2,372,896  1,546,599  1,546,467 
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NOTE 21 CONTINUED

If generation assets were stated on an historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Generation assets (at cost)  1,370,191  1,347,967  740,534  735,200 

Generation assets under construction (at cost)  13,150  7,701  10,598  6,385 

Generation assets accumulated depreciation  (216,481)  (172,324)  (118,003)  (108,275)

 1,166,860  1,183,344  633,129  633,310 

Generation assets include freehold land and buildings which are not separately identifi able from other generation assets. Generation assets were independently 
revalued, using a discounted cash fl ow methodology, as at 31 March 2009 to their estimated market value as determined by Deloitte Corporate Finance.

Included in the capital work in progress as at 31 March 2010 are capitalised borrowing costs of nil (2009:nil).

NOTE 22
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Shares at cost  -  -  64,987  64,719 

Net advances to subsidiaries  -  -  276,710  315,962 

Impairment of advances to subsidiaries 37  -  -  (15,288)  (12,667)

 -  -  326,409  368,014 

 COUNTRY OF 
 INCORPORATION 

 % OWNED  PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 

Signifi cant subsidiaries (31 March balance dates)

Cobb Power Limited New Zealand  100  Asset holding 

TrustPower Oamaru Limited New Zealand  100  Call services operator 

Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd Australia  100  Generation development 

Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd Australia  100  Electricity generation 

Tararua Wind Power Limited New Zealand  100  Asset holding 

TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd Australia  100  Generation development 

TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited New Zealand  100  Asset holding 

TrustPower Insurance Limited New Zealand  100  Insurance 

TrustPower Australia Financing Partnership Australia  100  Financing 

Esk Hydro Power Limited (acquired 26 November 2009) New Zealand  100  Generation development 

NOTE 23
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Customer Base Assets

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  64,994  64,994  64,994  64,994 

Accumulated amortisation  (32,928)  (29,120)  (32,928)  (29,120)

 32,066  35,874  32,066  35,874 

Additions at cost  -  -  -  - 

Amortisation  (3,808)  (3,808)  (3,808)  (3,808)

Disposals at net book value  -  -  -  - 

Balance at end of year

Cost  64,994  64,994  64,994  64,994 

Accumulated amortisation  (36,736)  (32,928)  (36,736)  (32,928)

 28,258  32,066  28,258  32,066 
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NOTE 23 CONTINUED GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Computer Software

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  21,122  17,575  21,122  17,575 

Accumulated amortisation  (13,672)  (13,183)  (13,672)  (13,183)

 7,450  4,392  7,450  4,392 

Additions at cost  7,886  5,268  7,886  5,268 

Amortisation  (1,849)  (1,882)  (1,849)  (1,882)

Impairment  (6,162)  -  (6,162)  - 

Disposals at net book value  -  (13)  -  (13)

Transfers  -  (315)  -  (315)

Balance at end of year

Cost  22,861  21,122  22,861  21,122 

Accumulated amortisation  (15,536)  (13,672)  (15,536)  (13,672)

 7,325  7,450  7,325  7,450 

Total

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  86,116  82,569  86,116  82,569 

Accumulated amortisation  (46,600)  (42,303)  (46,600)  (42,303)

 39,516  40,266  39,516  40,266 

Additions at cost  7,886  5,268  7,886  5,268 

Amortisation  (5,657)  (5,690)  (5,657)  (5,690)

Impairment 8  (6,162)  -  (6,162)  - 

Disposals at net book value  -  (13)  -  (13)

Transfers  -  (315)  -  (315)

Balance at end of year

Cost  87,855  86,116  87,855  86,116 

Accumulated amortisation  (52,272)  (46,600)  (52,272)  (46,600)

 35,583  39,516  35,583  39,516 

There are no individually material intangible assets included within the above. There are no material internally generated intangible assets or additions as a result of 
business combinations.

NOTE 24
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Capital expenditure accruals  -  11,602  -  6,164 

Customer bond deposits  2,181  2,423  2,181  2,423 

Electricity market payables  47,137  13,477  47,137  13,477 

Line cost accrual  2,723  2,617  2,723  2,617 

Employee entitlements  4,852  4,757  4,785  4,757 

Interest accruals  4,418  3,834  4,296  3,834 

Net GST payable  2,930  7,037  2,163  7,036 

Other accounts payable and accruals  10,197  8,588  10,082  6,986 

Trade accounts payable  29,393  30,360  29,381  30,360 

 103,831  84,695  102,748  77,654 



TrustPower | Annual Report 201060

NOTE 25
UNSECURED BANK LOANS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

New Zealand dollar facilities

Repayment terms:

One to two years  54,000  100,000  54,000  100,000 

Two to fi ve years  -  88,500  -  88,499 

Over fi ve years  91,104  99,026  91,104  99,026 

Facility establishment costs  (2,161)  (2,552)  (2,161)  (2,552)

 142,943  284,974  142,943  284,973 

Weighted average interest:

One to two years 3.0% 3.6% 3.0% 3.6%

Two to fi ve years  - 3.5%  - 3.5%

Over fi ve years 3.2% 3.9% 3.2% 3.9%

3.2% 3.7% 3.2% 3.7%

Australian dollar facilities

Repayment terms:

Less than one year  193,904  -  -  - 

One to two years  -  186,499  -  - 

Two to fi ve years  -  -  -  - 

Over fi ve years  -  -  -  - 

Facility establishment costs  -  -  -  - 

 193,904  186,499  -  - 

Weighted average interest:

Less than one year 4.6%  -  -  - 

One to two years  - 4.6%  -  - 

Two to fi ve years  -  -  -  - 

Over fi ve years  -  -  -  - 

4.6% 4.6%  -  - 

Total bank loans  336,847  471,473  142,943  284,973 

Current portion  193,904  -  -  - 

Non-current portion  142,943  471,473  142,943  284,973 

 336,847  471,473  142,943  284,973 

Interest rates paid during the year ranged from 2.68% to 4.75%.

The Group has the following loan facilities with interest priced at between call and 180 day rates:

(i)  $125,000,000 revolving loan expiring in under one year

(ii)  $220,000,000 revolving loan expiring in one to two years

(iii)  $125,000,000 revolving loan expiring in two to fi ve years

(iv)  $91,104,000 table loan maturing in eleven years

(v)  AUD 160,000,000 revolving loan expiring in under one year

Subsequent to balance date the Group has accepted offers to refi nance the Australian dollar facility expiring in under one year and extend it by AUD 20,000,000 to 
AUD 180,000,000. This facility is expected to be documented by 30 June 2010 and will mature in two to fi ve years.

Where drawn facilities mature within one year and the Group has an unconditional right to refi nance the loans through undrawn facilities with the same lenders with 
maturity dates of greater than one year from the end of the reporting period, the loan is considered non-current.

All of the Group’s borrowings are unsecured. The Group borrows under a negative pledge arrangement with its bank loan providers, which with limited exceptions 
does not permit the Group to grant any security interest over its assets. The negative pledge deed requires the Group to maintain certain levels of shareholders’ 
funds and operate within defi ned performance and debt gearing ratios. The banking arrangements may also create restrictions over the sale or disposal of certain 
assets unless the bank loans are repaid or renegotiated, specifi cally:

-  Facilities (i) to (iii) and (v) require a continuation of the existing business operations. There are no costs to cancel the facilities. 

-  Facility (iv) requires continued ownership by the Group of at least 30% in relation to Tararua Stage III wind generation assets with a book value of $192,528,000. 
There are no costs to cancel the facility. 

Throughout the period the Group has complied with all debt covenance requirements as imposed by lenders (see above for requirements).

A subsidiary company has entered into a fully defeased cross border lease in relation to generation assets with a book value of $65,500,000. The lease liability is 
not recognised in these fi nancial statements as all obligations have been prepaid to the respective lessors. This creates restrictions on the disposal of the asset 
unless the subsidiary company holding the assets is part of the disposal. The lease expires in January 2018 and is subject to a potential termination payment, up 
to a maximum value of $4,882,000 (2009: $5,415,000), in the event that the subsidiary wishes to terminate the lease. 



TrustPower | Annual Report 2010 61

NOTE 26
UNSECURED SUBORDINATED BONDS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Repayment terms and interest:

Maturing in September 2012, 8.5% p.a. fi xed coupon rate  108,592  108,592  108,592  108,592 

Maturing in March 2014, 8.5% p.a. fi xed coupon rate  54,713  54,713  54,713  54,713 

Maturing in December 2015, 8.4% p.a. fi xed coupon rate  100,000  100,000  100,000  100,000 

Bond issue costs  (2,099)  (2,634)  (2,099)  (2,634)

 261,206  260,671  261,206  260,671 

Current portion  -  -  -  - 

Non-current portion  261,206  260,671  261,206  260,671 

 261,206  260,671  261,206  260,671 

At maturity the bonds can be converted at the option of the Company to ordinary shares based on the market price of ordinary shares at the time. The bonds are 
fully subordinated behind all other creditors. 

At 31 March 2010 the subordinated bonds had a fair value of $274,286,000 (31 March 2009: $279,080,000). See note 38 for details of fair value estimation.

NOTE 27
UNSECURED SENIOR BONDS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Repayment terms and interest:

Maturing in December 2014, 7.6% p.a. fi xed coupon rate  75,000  -  75,000  - 

Maturing in December 2016, 8.0% p.a. fi xed coupon rate  65,000  -  65,000  - 

Bond issue costs  (2,482)  -  (2,482)  - 

 137,518  -  137,518  - 

The Group has entered a Master Trust Deed dated 30 October 2009 (the Trust Deed) with respect to its senior bonds, which with limited exceptions does not 
permit the Group to grant any security interest over its assets. The Trust Deed requires the Group to operate within defi ned performance and debt gearing ratios. 
The arrangements under the Trust Deed may also create restrictions over the sale or disposal of certain assets unless the senior bonds are repaid or renegotiated.

Throughout the period the Group has complied with all debt covenance requirements as imposed by the bond trustee (see above for requirements).

The unsecured senior bonds rank equally with bank loans (note 25).

At 31 March 2010 the senior bonds had a fair value of $143,443,000 (31 March 2009: nil). See note 38 for details of fair value estimation.

NOTE 28
DEFERRED INCOME TAX

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  251,137  204,835  177,741  174,314 

Current year changes in temporary differences affecting tax expense 11  10,946  (2,577)  4,560  (1,234)

Current year changes in temporary differences affecting reserves  1,903  48,879  5,624  4,661 

Reclassifi cation of prior year temporary differences 11  1,087  -  794  - 

Exchange rate movements on foreign denominated deferred tax  1,450  -  -  - 

 266,523  251,137  188,719  177,741 

Comprising:

Deferred tax liabilities  266,523  251,137  188,719  177,741 

 266,523  251,137  188,719  177,741 
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NOTE 28 CONTINUED

The tables below show the break down of the temporary differences that make up the deferred tax liabilities and their movement for the year.

GROUP Opening
Balance

Charged 
to Income
Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity

Closing
Balance

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Revaluations  196,459  -  (136)  196,323 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  54,496  7,069  -  61,565 

Employee benefi ts  (1,278)  (5)  -  (1,283)

Provision for impairment  (480)  (120)  -  (600)

Carbon revenue recognition  636  2,217  -  2,853 

Customer base assets  9,620  (1,143)  -  8,477 

Financial instruments  (6,409)  3,736  7,181  4,508 

Unrealised losses on Australian dollar loan  (1,838)  -  (3,413)  (5,251)

Other  (69)  -  -  (69)

 251,137  11,754  3,632  266,523 

GROUP Opening
Balance

Charged 
to Income
Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity

Closing
Balance

For the year ended 31 March 2009

Revaluations  140,860  -  55,599  196,459 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  50,010  4,486  -  54,496 

Employee benefi ts  (1,126)  (152)  -  (1,278)

Provision for impairment  (343)  (137)  -  (480)

Carbon revenue recognition  -  636  -  636 

Customer base assets  10,762  (1,142)  -  9,620 

Financial instruments  6,575  (6,333)  (6,651)  (6,409)

Unrealised losses on Australian dollar loan  -  -  (1,838)  (1,838)

Other  (84)  15  -  (69)

 206,654  (2,627)  47,110  251,137 

PARENT Opening
Balance

Charged 
to Income
Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity

Closing
Balance

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Revaluations  145,708  -  (1,557)  144,151 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  26,847  3,360  -  30,207 

Employee benefi ts  (1,278)  (5)  -  (1,283)

Provision for impairment  (480)  (120)  -  (600)

Carbon revenue recognition  636  2,217  -  2,853 

Customer base assets  9,620  (1,143)  -  8,477 

Financial instruments  (3,243)  1,044  7,182  4,983 

Other  (69)  -  -  (69)

 177,741  5,353  5,625  188,719 

PARENT Opening
Balance

Charged 
to Income
Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity

Closing
Balance

For the year ended 31 March 2009

Revaluations  134,371  -  11,337  145,708 
Other property, plant and equipment movements  24,159  2,688  -  26,847 
Employee benefi ts  (1,126)  (152)  -  (1,278)
Provision for impairment  (343)  (137)  -  (480)
Carbon revenue recognition  -  636  -  636 
Customer base assets  10,762  (1,142)  -  9,620 
Financial instruments  6,575  (3,142)  (6,676)  (3,243)
Other  (84)  15  -  (69)

 174,314  (1,234)  4,661  177,741 
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NOTE 28 CONTINUED

The tables below show the break down of the temporary differences that make up the deferred tax assets and their movement for the year.

GROUP Opening
Balance

Charged 
to Income
Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity

Closing
Balance

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Revaluations  -  -  -  - 
Other property, plant and equipment movements  -  -  -  - 
Financial instruments  -  -  -  - 
Tax losses unlikely to be utilised within one year  -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

GROUP Opening
Balance

Charged 
to Income
Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity

Closing
Balance

For the year ended 31 March 2009

Revaluations  -  -  -  - 
Other property, plant and equipment movements  (808)  808  -  - 
Financial instruments  1,670  99  (1,769)  - 
Tax losses unlikely to be utilised within one year  957  (957)  -  - 

 1,819  (50)  (1,769)  - 

NOTE 29
RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES WITH 
PROFIT AFTER TAX ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Profi t after tax attributable to the shareholders of the Company  119,413  105,075  107,632  108,818 
Items classifi ed as investing/fi nancing
Interest paid  57,759  53,748  43,562  44,819 
Interest received  (559)  (1,393)  (17)  (4,328)

 57,200  52,355  43,545  40,491 
Non-cash items:
Amortisation of debt issue costs  1,076  958  1,076  958 
Non-cash transfer from cash fl ow hedge reserve to interest expense  (194)  -  (194)  - 
Amortisation of intangible assets  5,657  5,690  5,657  5,690 
Depreciation  49,358  38,678  14,788  14,126 
Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment  549  93  549  162 
Impairment of assets  6,120  1,459  7,885  1,760 
Share option provision transfer  160  65  160  65 
Movement in derivative fi nancial instruments taken to the income statement  (12,509)  19,567  (3,537)  8,682 
Intercompany charges  -  -  28,221  26,059 
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability excluding transfers to reserves  12,098  (2,481)  5,353  (1,234)

 62,315  64,029  59,958  56,268 
Decrease/(increase) in working capital:
Accounts receivable and prepayments  (39,454)  22,809  (38,704)  26,994 
Taxation payable/receivable  3,715  10,486  5,017  8,144 
Accounts payable and accruals excluding capital expenditure accruals  30,920  (40,537)  31,258  (32,463)

 (4,819)  (7,242)  (2,429)  2,675 

Net cash from operating activities  234,109  214,217  208,706  208,252 

NOTE 30
IMPUTATION CREDIT ACCOUNT

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  462  2,204  462  2,204 
Tax paid  30,934  26,052  30,934  26,052 
Allocated to dividends  (30,941)  (27,807)  (30,941)  (27,807)
Other movements  8  13  8  13 
Balance at end of year  463  462  463  462 



TrustPower | Annual Report 201064

NOTE 31
EMISSION RIGHTS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Verifi ed Voluntary Emission Reductions (Tonnes CO2-e)

Balance at beginning of year  321,000  360,000  321,000  360,000 

Rights verifi ed during the year  -  29,000  -  29,000 

Rights sold during the year  (30,000)  (23,000)  (30,000)  (23,000)

Rights used internally  -  (45,000)  -  (45,000)

Rights unsold at end of year  291,000  321,000  291,000  321,000 

The Verifi ed Voluntary Emission Reductions above relate to completed generation production for the period 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2007. As at 31 March 
2010 unsold Verifi ed Voluntary Emission Reductions were valued at nil (2009: nil).

Kyoto Carbon Credits

The Group has received 1,476,000 (2009:1,476,000) tonnes of carbon emission rights from the New Zealand Government issued pursuant to the Kyoto protocol 
in relation to completed generation facilities. This represents the maximum rights based upon specifi ed levels of generation output from the new facilities for the 
period 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2012 and is reliant on the ongoing support of the Kyoto protocol and emission rights within the international community. 
The Group believes that it will be able to utilise 1,310,000 tonnes of these carbon emission rights. This potential revenue source is taken into consideration in the 
evaluation of generation development projects and in the valuation of the generation assets. 

A contract has been signed with Electrabel, a European energy company, for the sale of 228,000 tonnes of carbon emission rights over fi ve years from 2008-2012. 
This sale is dependent on the Group’s Tararua Stage II wind farm producing a minimum level of output. A contract has been signed with The Kansai Electric Power 
Company, a Japanese energy company, for the sale of 300,000 tonnes of carbon emission rights over fi ve years from 2008-2012. Further contracts have been 
signed covering emission rights generated over the same period. These sales are dependent on the Group’s Tararua Stage III wind farm producing a minimum level 
of output.

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Kyoto Carbon Credits (Tonnes CO2-e)

Balance at beginning of year  65,000  -  65,000  - 

Rights earned during the year  231,000  216,000  231,000  216,000 

Rights sold during the year  (198,000)  (151,000)  (198,000)  (151,000)

Rights unsold at end of year  98,000  65,000  98,000  65,000 

Included in other receivables (note 19) is $11,051,000 relating to Kyoto Carbon Credits generated and pre-sold (2009: $5,947,000). In addition $2,135,000 is 
included relating to Kyoto Carbon Credits generated but unsold at the end of the reporting period (2009: $1,619,000).

NOTE 32
COMMITMENTS

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Capital Commitments  2,824  -  2,824  - 

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period the Group has incurred additional capital commitments of $62,011,000 relating to the construction of stage one of 
its Mahinerangi Wind Farm. Additional contracts are expected to be signed in the coming months.

Electricity Purchase Commitments

The Parent has a long term contract with Mighty River Power Limited to purchase the output from the Rotokawa geothermal power station until 31 March 2013. 
This commitment cannot be quantifi ed.

The Parent has a contract with Pioneer Generation Limited to purchase all of the output from its various generation sites. This commitment cannot be quantifi ed.

The Parent has a contract with Ngawha Generation Limited to purchase all of the output from its Ngawha geothermal station. This commitment cannot be quantifi ed.
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NOTE 33
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, OPERATING LEASES, AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Inland Revenue is currently disputing the tax treatment adopted by the Group in relation to feasibility expenditure in the 2006, 2007 and 2008 fi nancial years. The 
Group believes the tax treatment adopted is correct and is defending its position. Should Inland Revenue be completely successful in its claim, the resulting liability 
would give rise to an additional tax payment of $6,779,000 and interest expense of $2,812,000. Further the Group would need to revise its policy for claiming tax 
deductions for feasibility expenditure in the 2009 and future years. This would give rise to a further estimated tax payment of $2,872,000 and interest expense of 
$166,000 in respect of the 2009 and 2010 years. 

The Group has provided a guarantee to Rangitata Diversion Race Management Limited (RDR) to allow RDR to borrow funds to purchase land. The maximum 
amount the Group could be liable to pay is $756,000 (2009: nil). This maximum liability would only be payable if RDR was unable to service its debt and was 
unable to sell the land.

The Group is not aware of any other material contingent liabilities at balance date (2009: nil). 

Other than disclosed in note 6 the Group is not party to any material operating leases at balance date (2009: nil). 

The Group is not aware of any signifi cant events occurring subsequent to balance date that have not been disclosed.

NOTE 34
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Key management personnel

The key management personnel compensations (including Directors’ fees) are as follows:

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefi ts  4,535  3,956  4,535  3,956 

Share based payments  22  58  22  58 

 4,557  4,014  4,557  4,014 

$598,000 of this amount was unpaid at 31 March 2010 (2009: $1,129,000).

All key management personnel participate in a cash settled, share based incentive scheme. This scheme was introduced in 2007 and replaces the employee share 
option scheme (refer to note 35).

Subsidiaries

Advances have been made to/from subsidiaries (refer to note 22) and are payable on demand. These advances are not expected to be repaid in the coming year. 
Advances to New Zealand based subsidiaries are interest free while interest is charged to overseas based subsidiaries at a market rate. The net advances as 
disclosed in note 22 include the balances due to/from subsidiaries in respect of the following transactions.

The Parent has a lease contract with its subsidiaries Cobb Power Limited and Tararua Wind Power Limited for the use of the subsidiary companies’ generation 
assets. These commitments cannot be quantifi ed.

The Parent has an insurance contract with its subsidiary TrustPower Insurance Limited which is renewed annually.

The impact of transactions with subsidiaries on the profi t of the Parent and Group is shown below.

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Operating lease costs  -  -  (21,247)  (16,496)

Insurance costs  -  -  (2,141)  (1,649)

Interest revenue  -  -  1,172  3,048 

Impact on profi t before income tax  -  -  (22,216)  (15,097)

The Group is controlled by Infratil Limited (incorporated in New Zealand) which owns 50.5% of the Company’s shares. The Tauranga Energy Consumer Trust owns 
33.0% and the residual balance of 16.5% is widely held.

A related entity of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Limited manages Infratil Limited and Mr HRL Morrison, a Director of TrustPower Limited, is the Chief Executive of H.R.L. 
Morrison & Co Limited and a Director of Infratil Limited. Infratil Limited is the parent of TrustPower Limited and $7,000 (2009: $112,000) was paid to H.R.L. 
Morrison & Co Limited and related entities during the year for consultancy services. As at 31 March 2010 none of this amount was outstanding (2009: nil). 

Mr JG Schultz was a Director of a number of the Australian subsidiaries of the Company until 31 May 2008 and is a partner in the Adelaide based law fi rm of 
Finlaysons. $56,000 was paid to Finlaysons for the year to 31 March 2009 for legal services. As at 31 March 2009 none of this amount was outstanding. 

Consultancy fees of $10,000 (2009: $9,000) were paid to Victoria Electricity Pty Ltd which is a subsidiary of the Group’s ultimate parent. As at 31 March 2010 
none of this amount was outstanding (2009: nil). 

Mr MJ Cooney, a Director of TrustPower Limited, is a partner in the law fi rm Cooney Lees Morgan. $14,000 was paid to Cooney Lees Morgan for legal services in 
the year to 31 March 2010 (2009: nil). As at 31 March 2010 none of this amount was unpaid (2009: nil).

Except as noted above, no transactions took place with related parties during the year.  All transactions with related parties take place on an arms length basis.  
No related party debts were forgiven or written off during the year. Except as noted above there are no amounts outstanding at 31 March 2010 (2009: nil).
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NOTE 35
EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has issued share options to certain employees. Each option issued under the Scheme converts to one ordinary share on exercise when employees 
are required to pay a non-refundable amount for the issue of the ordinary share (the exercise price). The options may be exercised any time after three years from 
issue date up until expiry, are non-transferable and conditional on the individual employee’s continued employment through this period. The initial exercise price 
was set by taking the average closing market price of the shares during the ten business days up to and including the issue of the options. The exercise price is 
adjusted by an equity rate of return, dividends paid and capital structure changes from issue date up until the point at which the employee exercises the option. 

NUMBER EXERCISE PRICE $

2010 2009 2010 2009

Options Outstanding:

Tranche A issued November 2003, expiring February 2009  -  -  -  - 

Tranche B issued May 2004, expiring August 2010  -  -  -  - 

Tranche C issued November 2004, expiring February 2010  -  280,000  -  6.10 

Tranche D issued May 2006, expiring June 2012  280,000  360,000  8.01  7.81 

 280,000  640,000 

Options Exercised to Date:

Tranche A  520,000  520,000  3.04  3.04 

Tranche B  60,000  60,000  4.85  4.85 

Tranche C  420,000  140,000  6.10  6.10 

Tranche D  -  -  -  - 

 1,000,000  720,000 

Options Lapsed to Date:

Tranche A  60,000  60,000 

Tranche B  -  - 

Tranche C  100,000  100,000 

Tranche D  180,000  100,000 

 340,000  260,000 

NOTE 36
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On 26 November 2009 the Group purchased 100% of the shares of Esk Hydro Power Limited for $350,000. There were no material operating results for this 
acquisition affecting the income statements for this year. The assets and liabilities of the acquisition at the purchase date were as follows:

GROUP FAIR VALUE ACQUIREE’S
CARRYING VALUE

2010 2010

$000 $000

Assets and Liabilities Acquired:

Cash at bank  1  1 

Property, plant and equipment  350  83 

Accounts payable and accruals  (1)  (1)

Shareholder advances  -  (82)

Net assets acquired  350  1 

There was no goodwill arising as a result of this business combination. There were no acquisitions in the year ended 31 March 2009.

NOTE 37
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are frequently evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by defi nition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year are discussed below.

Fair value of derivatives and other fi nancial instruments

The fair value of fi nancial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, electricity price hedges) is determined by using valuation techniques. 
The Group uses its judgement to select methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. 
The Group has used discounted cash fl ow analysis for various electricity price hedges that are not traded in an active market. The forward curve is derived from a 
combination of market quoted prices and management’s best estimates. The discount rate is assumed as the counterparty’s cost of funds for the period of the 
instrument.
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NOTE 37 CONTINUED

Electricity gross margin

Three key estimates are made when determining electricity gross margin. The accrual for all three factors is based on an estimate of unbilled units.

•  Revenue recognition

 An accrual is estimated for units sold but not billed at the end of the reporting period for non-half hourly metered customers. This estimate is based on units 
bought from the wholesale electricity market as well as historic factors. Signifi cant judgement is required in making this determination.

•  Line cost recognition

 Some electricity lines companies bill the Group based on the units and days that the Group has billed its customers while the remaining electricity lines 
companies bill the Group based on estimated total units and days. For the companies that base their bill on the Group’s customer billing, an accrual, similar to 
the revenue recognition accrual, is estimated for line charges incurred but not billed at the end of the reporting period.

•  Energy cost recognition

 An accrual is estimated for units that the Group believes it has consumed but has not yet been billed for by M-Co Limited, the Energy Clearing House. 
Signifi cant judgement is required in making this determination.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated unbilled units had been 10% higher/lower, operating profi t for the year would have increased/(decreased) by $74,000/$(85,000) (2009: increased/
(decreased) by $569,000/$(552,000)).

Generation property, plant and equipment

The Group’s generation property, plant and equipment is stated at fair value as determined by an independent valuation undertaken at least every three years. This 
valuation is reviewed annually and if it is considered that there has been a material change then a new independent valuation is undertaken. The basis of the 
valuation is a discounted cash fl ow analysis of the future earnings of the assets. The major inputs that are used in the valuation model that require management 
judgement include the forward price path of electricity, sales volume forecasts, projected operational and capital expenditure profi les, discount rates and life 
assumptions for each generation station. The following table outlines the key assumptions used by Deloitte Corporate Finance in determining the most recent 
valuation as at 31 March 2009. In all cases there is an element of judgement required. The table shows the range of reasonably possible alternative assumption 
values considered. The valuation is based on a combination of values that are generally in the midpoint of the range.

Assumption Low High Valuation Impact

New Zealand Assets

Forward electricity price path Increasing in real terms 
from $73/MWh to $82/MWh 
by 2012 then constant.

Increasing in real terms 
from $78/MWh to $87/MWh 
by 2012 then constant.

-/+ $64,000,000

Generation volume 2,032 GWh 2,483 GWh -/+ $217,000,000

Operating costs $23,000,000 p.a. $29,000,000 p.a. +/- $31,000,000

Weighted average cost of capital 8.00% 8.50% +$74,000,000 / 
-$67,000,000

Australian Assets AUD

Forward electricity price path including renewable attributes (Stated in AUD) Until 2018 
$72 in real terms. After 
2018 declining to $60 by 
2028 in real terms. 
Thereafter held constant.

(Stated in AUD) Until 2018 
$78 in real terms. After 
2018 declining to $66 by 
2028 in real terms. 
Thereafter held constant.

-/+ $5,000,000

Generation volume 350 GWh 428 GWh -$30,000,000 / 
+$29,000,000

Weighted average cost of capital 7.60% 8.10% +/- $6,000,000

The valuation impact is calculated as the movement in the fair value as a result of the change in the assumption and keeping all other valuation inputs constant.

Depreciation expense

A signifi cant amount of management judgement is used when determining the useful lives of the Group’s generation assets for depreciation purposes. This is 
especially so for the Group’s longer lived assets.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated useful lives of generation assets was 10% higher/lower, operating profi t for the year would have increased/(decreased) by $4,487,000/$(5,484,000) 
(2009: $3,010,000/$(3,678,000)).

Amortisation expense

Management judgement is used when determining the useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets for amortisation purposes.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated useful lives of intangible assets was 10% higher/lower, operating profi t for the year would have increased/decreased by $514,000/$(629,000) 
(2009: $517,000/$(632,000)).

Income tax expense

The Group is subject to income taxes in New Zealand and Australia. Signifi cant judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the fi nal tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 
differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.

Provision against advances to subsidiaries

For subsidiaries involved in generation development, the Parent fully provides for advances made until such time as a viable project is identifi ed and construction 
commences. This provision is the result of signifi cant management judgement.

Changes to accounting estimates

There have been no changes to accounting estimates in the year.
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NOTE 38
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial Risk Management Objectives

TrustPower’s activities expose it to a variety of fi nancial risks: electricity price risk, interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Group’s 
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of fi nancial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s fi nancial 
performance. The Group uses derivative fi nancial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board.

(a) Electricity Price Risk

The Group typically sells more electricity at fi xed prices than it generates. As a result the Group is required to purchase a percentage of its electricity sold off the 
electricity spot market. This leaves the Group exposed to fl uctuations in the spot price of electricity where it sells electricity at a fi xed price. The Group operates 
under an energy trading policy which limits the exposure the Group may have in any future period. Future exposure is estimated based on expected fi xed price 
sales and generation output. The Group has entered into a number of electricity hedge contracts to reduce the commodity price risk from price fl uctuations on the 
electricity spot market. These hedge contracts establish the price at which future specifi ed quantities of electricity are purchased. Any resulting differential to be 
paid or received is recognised as a component of energy costs through the term of the contract. The Group has elected to apply cash fl ow hedge accounting to 
those instruments it deems material and which qualify as cash fl ow hedges while immaterial contracts are not hedge accounted. 

The aggregate notional volume of the outstanding electricity derivatives at 31 March 2010 was 1,146 GWh (31 March 2009: 617 GWh).

The hedged anticipated electricity purchase transactions are expected to occur continuously throughout the next four years from the end of the reporting period 
consistent with the Group’s forecast electricity generation and retail electricity sales. Gains and losses recognised in the cash fl ow hedge reserve on electricity 
derivatives as of 31 March 2010 will be continuously released to the income statement in each period in which the underlying purchase transactions are recognised 
in the income statement.

Sensitivity analysis

The following tables summarise the impact of increases/decreases of the relevant forward electricity prices on the Group’s post-tax profi t for the year and on other 
components of equity. The sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that the relevant forward electricity prices had increased/decreased with all other 
variables held constant as a result of the fair value change in electricity price derivatives.

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Increase/(decrease) to profi t of a 10% increase in electricity forward price  (1,532)  (1,679)  (1,532)  (1,679)

Increase/(decrease) to profi t of a 10% decrease in electricity forward price  1,532  1,679  1,532  1,679 

Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 10% increase in electricity forward price  9,768  4,100  9,768  4,100 

Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 10% decrease in electricity forward price  (9,768)  (4,100)  (9,768)  (4,100)

(b) Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s bank borrowings are all on fl oating interest rates exposing it to the risk that rising interest rates will increase the Group’s interest expense and, hence, 
reduce its profi tability. The Group operates under a treasury policy which prescribes the proportion of fi xed interest rate cover the Group must hold in relation to its 
future borrowings. This proportion is calculated based on the actual fi xed rate cover held and the forecast debt levels of the Group. The Group has various interest 
rate fi nancial instruments to manage exposure to fl uctuations in interest rates. Any resulting differential to be paid or received on the instruments is recognised as a 
component of interest paid. The Group has elected to hedge account only a limited number of these instruments.

The aggregate notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate derivative instruments at 31 March 2010 was $563,197,000 (31 March 2009: 
$576,188,000).

Interest payment transactions are expected to occur at various dates between one month and nine years from the end of the reporting period consistent with the 
Group’s forecast total borrowings.

Effective interest rates for the Parent and the Group are disclosed in note 25.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2010, if interest rates at that date had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profi t for the year and other 
components of equity would have been adjusted by the amounts in the table below, as a result of the fair value change in interest rate derivative instruments.

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Increase/(decrease) to profi t of a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates  (7,297)  (11,906)  (3,447)  (7,147)

Increase/(decrease) to profi t of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates  7,119  11,906  3,301  7,147 

Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates  (8,085)  (14,178)  (4,235)  (9,420)

Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates  7,900  14,178  4,082  9,420 

(c) Exchange Rate Risk

During the course of business the Group may enter into contracts for the construction of generation assets and the sale of carbon credits to be settled in a foreign 
currency in the future. This exposes the Group to movements in foreign exchange rates. The Group operates under a treasury policy which requires all foreign 
currency transactions over certain limits to be 100% hedged. Compliance with this policy is measured by forecasting future foreign currency transactions and 
ensuring that the exchange rate has been fi xed. The Group enters into forward exchange contracts to reduce the risk from price fl uctuations of foreign currency 
costs associated with the construction of property, plant and equipment or income associated with the sale of carbon credits. Any resulting differential to be paid 
or received is recognised as a component of the cost of the project for the construction of generation assets and as a part of revenue for the sale of carbon 
credits. The Group has elected to apply cash fl ow hedge accounting to these instruments. 

The aggregate notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 March 2010 was $25,062,000 (31 March 2009: $29,950,000).

The hedged anticipated transactions denominated in foreign currency are expected to occur at various dates between one month and three years from the end of 
the reporting period. Gains and losses recognised in the cash fl ow hedge reserve in equity on forward foreign exchange contracts as at 31 March 2010 will be 
recognised in the revenue from the production of carbon credits when the credits are produced.
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NOTE 38 CONTINUED

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2010, if the New Zealand dollar had weakened/strengthened by 10 per cent against the currencies with which the Group has foreign currency risk 
with all other variables held constant, post-tax profi t for the year would not have been materially different.

Other components of equity would have been $(2,248,000)/$2,041,000 (lower)/higher (31 March 2009: $(3,252,000)/$3,252,000 (lower)/higher), arising from 
foreign exchange gains/losses on revaluation of foreign exchange contracts in a cash fl ow hedge relationship.

(d) Credit Risk

The Group has no signifi cant concentrations of credit risk (2009: none). It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an appropriate 
credit history. Where a potential customer does not have a suitable credit history a bond is required before the customer is accepted. Derivative counterparties and 
cash transactions are limited to high credit quality fi nancial institutions with a minimum Standard & Poor’s long-term credit rating of A+ and other large electricity 
market participants (all have a Standard & Poor’s long-term credit rating of at least BBB). Where a potential counterparty does not meet these credit criteria the 
maximum level of credit exposure is set individually by the Board. The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any counterparty. 

The carrying amounts of fi nancial assets recognised in the statement of fi nancial position best represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained. As shown in note 19, the reported accounts receivable balance includes a provision 
for doubtful debts of $2,000,000 (2009: $1,600,000).

The Group has around 225,000 customers (2009: 227,000), only four (2009: three) of which make up more than one per cent of the Group’s total accounts 
receivable balance. The largest of these customers accounts for 7 per cent (2009: 8 per cent) of the Group’s total accounts receivable.

As of 31 March 2010, trade receivables relating to the Group and the Parent of $4,447,000 (2009: $4,186,000) were past due but not impaired. The ageing 
analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Up to 3 months  3,984  3,575  3,984  3,575 
3 to 6 months  463  611  463  611 

 4,447  4,186  4,447  4,186 

As of 31 March 2010, trade receivables relating to the Group and the Parent of $2,000,000 (2009: $1,600,000) were past due and impaired. The ageing analysis of 
these trade receivables is as follows:

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

3 to 6 months  977  789  977  789 
6 to 12 months  603  530  603  530 
Over 12 months  420  281  420  281 

 2,000  1,600  2,000  1,600 

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Opening balance  1,600  1,100  1,600  1,100 
Provision for receivables impairment 7  2,374  1,904  2,374  1,904 
Bad debts written off  (1,974)  (1,404)  (1,974)  (1,404)
Closing balance 19  2,000  1,600  2,000  1,600 

(e) Liquidity Risk

The Group’s ability to readily attract cost effective funding is largely driven by its credit standing.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining suffi cient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through adequate amount of committed 
credit facilities and the spreading of debt maturities. The Group operates under a treasury policy which dictates the level of available committed facility to be 
maintained to provide cover for reasonably conceivable adverse conditions. This is measured by forecasting debt levels under various adverse scenarios and 
comparing this to committed facility levels. The treasury policy also requires a spread of debt maturities which is measured by the proportion of debt maturing in 
various time bands.

The tables below analyse the Group’s and the Parent’s fi nancial liabilities excluding gross settled derivative fi nancial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based 
on the remaining period to the earliest possible contractual maturity date at the period end date. The amounts in the tables are contractual undiscounted cash fl ows.

GROUP Less than
1 month

1-6
months

6-12 
months

Over
1 year

At 31 March 2010 $000 $000 $000 $000

Net settled electricity price derivatives  234  787  2,342  830 
Net settled interest rate derivatives  300  3,366  2,414  993 
Accounts payable and accruals  99,413  -  -  - 
Unsecured subordinated debt  -  11,232  11,049  331,130 
Unsecured senior debt  -  5,495  5,405  191,356 
Unsecured bank loans  123  196,752  -  142,943 
Financial guarantee contracts  756  -  -  - 
Total  100,826  217,632  21,210  667,252 
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NOTE 38 CONTINUED Less than
1 month

1-6
months

6-12 
months

Over
1 year

At 31 March 2009 $000 $000 $000 $000

Net settled electricity price derivatives  903  406  5,154  654 

Net settled interest rate derivatives  556  6,099  5,927  9,334 

Accounts payable and accruals  80,861  -  -  - 

Unsecured subordinated debt  -  11,293  11,049  357,732 

Unsecured senior debt  -  -  -  - 

Unsecured bank loans  481  3,002  -  471,473 

Financial guarantee contracts  -  -  -  - 

Total  82,801  20,800  22,130  839,193 

PARENT Less than
1 month

1-6
months

6-12 
months

Over
1 year

At 31 March 2010 $000 $000 $000 $000

Net settled electricity price derivatives  234  787  2,342  830 

Net settled interest rate derivatives  300  2,096  1,632  449 

Accounts payable and accruals  98,452  -  -  - 

Unsecured subordinated debt  -  11,232  11,049  331,130 

Unsecured senior debt  -  5,495  5,405  191,356 

Unsecured bank loans  123  1,465  -  142,943 

Financial guarantee contracts  756  -  -  - 

Total  99,865  21,075  20,428  666,708 

Less than
1 month

1-6
months

6-12 
months

Over
1 year

At 31 March 2009 $000 $000 $000 $000

Net settled electricity price derivatives  903  406  5,154  654 

Net settled interest rate derivatives  556  2,746  2,574  4,243 

Accounts payable and accruals  73,820  -  -  - 

Unsecured subordinated debt  -  11,293  11,049  357,732 

Unsecured senior debt  -  -  -  - 

Unsecured bank loans  481  1,914  -  284,973 

Financial guarantee contracts  -  -  -  - 

Total  75,760  16,359  18,777  647,602 

The tables below analyse the Group’s and the Parent’s derivative fi nancial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based 
on the remaining period to the contractual maturity date at the period end date. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash fl ows.

GROUP Less than
1 month

1-6
months

6-12 
months

Over
1 year

At 31 March 2010 $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign currency forward contracts
Infl ows  3,654  -  3,270  18,137 
(Outfl ows)  (3,121)  -  (2,692)  (14,750)

Less than
1 month

1-6
months

6-12 
months

Over
1 year

At 31 March 2009 $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign currency forward contracts
Infl ows  3,587  -  1,301  25,062 
(Outfl ows)  (3,865)  -  (1,382)  (25,460)
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NOTE 38 CONTINUED

PARENT Less than
1 month

1-6
months

6-12 
months

Over
1 year

At 31 March 2010 $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign currency forward contracts
Infl ows  3,654  -  3,270  18,137 
(Outfl ows)  (3,121)  -  (2,692)  (14,750)

Less than
1 month

1-6
months

6-12 
months

Over
1 year

At 31 March 2009 $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign currency forward contracts
Infl ows  3,587  -  1,301  25,062 
(Outfl ows)  (3,865)  -  (1,382)  (25,460)

Fair Values

Except for subordinated bonds and senior bonds (see notes 26 and 27), the carrying amount of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities recorded in the fi nancial 
statements approximates their fair values.

Estimation of Fair Values

The fair values of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities are determined as follows:

•  The fair value of fi nancial assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted 
market prices.

•  The fair value of other fi nancial assets and liabilities are calculated using discounted cash fl ow analysis based on market-quoted rates.
•  The fair value of derivative fi nancial instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, use is made of discounted cash fl ow 

analysis using the applicable yield curve or available forward price data for the duration of the instruments.

Where the fair value of a derivative is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash fl ows of the instrument, the two key types of variables used by 
the valuation techniques are:

•  forward price curve (as described below); and

•  discount rates.

Valuation Input Source

Interest rate forward price curve Published market swap rates

Foreign exchange forward prices Published spot foreign exchange rates and interest rate differentials

Electricity forward price curve Market quoted prices where available and management’s best estimate based on  
 its view of the long run marginal cost of new generation where no market quoted  
 prices are available.

Discount rate for valuing interest rate derivatives The discount rates used to value interest rate derivatives are published market  
 interest rates as applicable to the remaining life of the instrument 

Discount rate for valuing forward foreign exchange contracts The discount rates used to value forward foreign exchange contracts are   
 published market interest rates as applicable to the remaining life of the instrument 

Discount rate for valuing electricity price derivatives Assumed counterparty cost of funds ranging from 3.8% to 8.4%

The selection of variables requires signifi cant judgement and therefore there is a range of reasonably possible assumptions in respect of these variables that could 
be used in estimating the fair value of these derivatives. Maximum use is made of observable market data when selecting variables and developing assumptions for 
the valuation techniques. See earlier in this note for sensitivity analysis.

Effective 1 April 2009 the Group adopted the amendment to NZ IFRS 7 for fi nancial instruments that are measured in the statement of fi nancial position at fair 
value, this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

•  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)
•  Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived 

from prices) (level 2)
•  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following tables present the Group’s and Parent’s fi nancial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value.

GROUP
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 March 2010 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position

Interest rate derivative assets  -  3,918  -  3,918 

Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  18,466  18,466 

Exchange rate derivative assets  -  3,138  -  3,138 

 -  7,056  18,466  25,522 

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position

Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  6,582  -  6,582 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  2,066  2,066 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 -  6,582  2,066  8,648 
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 March 2009 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position
Interest rate derivative assets  -  3,156  -  3,156 
Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  3,124  3,124 
Exchange rate derivative assets  -  -  -  - 

 -  3,156  3,124  6,280 

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position
Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  20,099  -  20,099 
Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  3,304  3,304 
Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  2,450  -  2,450 

 -  22,549  3,304  25,853 

PARENT
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 March 2010 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position
Interest rate derivative assets  -  3,077  -  3,077 
Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  18,466  18,466 
Exchange rate derivative assets  -  3,138  -  3,138 

 -  6,215  18,466  24,681 

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position
Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  4,158  -  4,158 
Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  2,066  2,066 
Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 -  4,158  2,066  6,224 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 March 2009 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position
Interest rate derivative assets  -  3,156  -  3,156 
Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  3,124  3,124 

 -  3,156  3,124  6,280 

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position
Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  9,545  -  9,545 
Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  3,304  3,304 
Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  2,450  -  2,450 

 -  11,995  3,304  15,299 

The following tables present the changes during the year of the level 3 instruments.

GROUP Electricity 
price

derivatives

Total

31 March 2010 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position
Opening balance  3,124  3,124 
Gains and (losses) recognised in profi t or loss  (1,031)  (1,031)
Gains and (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income  16,373  16,373 
Closing balance  18,466  18,466 
Total gains or (losses) for the period included in profi t or loss for assets held at the end of the
reporting period  2,255  2,255 

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position
Opening balance  3,304  3,304 
(Gains) and losses recognised in profi t or loss  807  807 
(Gains) and losses recognised in other comprehensive income  (2,045)  (2,045)
Closing balance  2,066  2,066 
Total (gains) or losses for the period included in profi t or loss for liabilities held at the end of the
reporting period  1,327  1,327 

Settlements during the year  24,411  24,411 
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NOTE 38 CONTINUED Electricity 
price

derivatives

Total

31 March 2009 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position
Opening balance  22,910  22,910 
Gains and (losses) recognised in profi t or loss  739  739 
Gains and (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income  (20,525)  (20,525)
Closing balance  3,124  3,124 
Total gains or (losses) for the period included in profi t or loss for assets held at the end of the
reporting period  2,843  2,843 

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position
Opening balance  2,399  2,399 
(Gains) and losses recognised in profi t or loss  (1,140)  (1,140)
(Gains) and losses recognised in other comprehensive income  2,045  2,045 
Closing balance  3,304  3,304 
Total (gains) or losses for the period included in profi t or loss for liabilities held at the end of the
reporting period  1,028  1,028 

Settlements during the year  (38,602)  (38,602)

PARENT Electricity 
price

derivatives

Total

31 March 2010 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position
Opening balance  3,124  3,124 
Gains and (losses) recognised in profi t or loss  (1,031)  (1,031)
Gains and (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income  16,373  16,373 
Closing balance  18,466  18,466 
Total gains or (losses) for the period included in profi t or loss for assets held at the end of the
reporting period  2,255  2,255 

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position
Opening balance  3,304  3,304 
(Gains) and losses recognised in profi t or loss  807  807 
(Gains) and losses recognised in other comprehensive income  (2,045)  (2,045)
Closing balance  2,066  2,066 
Total (gains) or losses for the period included in profi t or loss for liabilities held at the end of the
reporting period  1,327  1,327 

Settlements during the year  24,411  24,411 

Electricity 
price

derivatives

Total

31 March 2009 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position

Opening balance  22,910  22,910 

Gains and (losses) recognised in profi t or loss  739  739 

Gains and (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income  (20,525)  (20,525)

Closing balance  3,124  3,124 

Total gains or (losses) for the period included in profi t or loss for assets held at the end of the

reporting period  2,843  2,843 

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position

Opening balance  2,399  2,399 

(Gains) and losses recognised in profi t or loss  (1,140)  (1,140)

(Gains) and losses recognised in other comprehensive income  2,045  2,045 

Closing balance  3,304  3,304 

Total (gains) or losses for the period included in profi t or loss for liabilities held at the end of the

reporting period  1,028  1,028 

Settlements during the year  (38,602)  (38,602)
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Electricity price derivatives are classifi ed as Level 3 because the assumed location factors which are used to adjust the forward price path are unobservable.

A sensitivity analysis showing the effect on the value of the electricity price derivatives of reasonably possible alternative price path assumptions is shown in section 
(a) of this note.

Capital Risk Management Objectives

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefi ts for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new 
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.

•  Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less short term deposits. Total borrowings are calculated using a value of unsecured bank loans plus unsecured 
subordinated and senior bonds.

•  Total capital funding is calculated as total equity as shown in the statement of fi nancial position, adjusted for the fair value of fi nancial instruments, plus net debt.

The gearing ratio is calculated below:

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Net debt

Unsecured bank debt 25  336,847  471,473  142,943  284,973 

Unsecured subordinated bonds 26  261,206  260,671  261,206  260,671 

Unsecured senior bonds 27  137,518  -  137,518  - 

Cash at bank / bank overdraft 18  (9,492)  (27,416)  (3,868)  (4,467)

 726,079  704,728  537,799  541,177 

Equity

Total equity  1,437,146  1,430,069  1,205,255  1,222,584 

Remove net effect of fair value of fi nancial instruments after tax 16  (15,406)  1,158  (15,406)  1,158 

 1,421,740  1,431,227  1,189,849  1,223,742 

Total capital funding  2,147,819  2,135,955  1,727,648  1,764,919 

Gearing ratio 34% 33% 31% 31%

NOTE 39
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

GROUP Loans and
receivables

Assets at 
fair value

through 
profi t or loss

Derivatives
used for
hedging

 Assets 
held 

 to maturity 

31 March 2010 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position
Derivative fi nancial instruments  -  5,324  20,198  - 
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  115,701  -  -  - 
Cash and cash equivalents  9,492  -  -  - 
Bond deposits on trust  2,300  -  -  - 
Term receivables  -  -  -  - 
Other investments  -  -  -  2,195 

 127,493  5,324  20,198  2,195 

31 March 2009

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position
Derivative fi nancial instruments  -  3,438  2,842  - 
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  72,208  -  -  - 
Cash and cash equivalents  27,416  -  -  - 
Bond deposits on trust  2,700  -  -  - 
Term receivables  4,039  -  -  - 
Other investments  -  -  -  521 

 106,363  3,438  2,842  521 
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NOTE 39 CONTINUED Liabilities 
at fair value

through 
profi t or 

loss

Derivatives
used for
hedging

Other 
fi nancial

liabilities at
amortised

cost

31 March 2010 $000 $000 $000

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position
Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  336,847 
Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  261,206 
Unsecured senior bonds  -  -  137,518 
Derivative fi nancial instruments  8,648  -  - 
Trade and other payables  -  -  103,831 

 8,648  -  839,402 

31 March 2009

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position
Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  471,473 
Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  260,671 
Derivative fi nancial instruments  21,357  4,496  - 
Trade and other payables  -  -  84,695 

 21,357  4,496  816,839 

PARENT Loans and
receivables

Assets at 
fair value

through 
profi t or loss

Derivatives
used for
hedging

 Assets 
held 

 to maturity 

31 March 2010 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position
Derivative fi nancial instruments  -  4,483  20,198  - 
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  109,807  -  -  - 
Cash and cash equivalents  3,868  -  -  - 
Bond deposits on trust  2,300  -  -  - 
Term receivables  -  -  -  - 
Other investments  -  -  -  8 

 115,975  4,483  20,198  8 

31 March 2009

Assets per the statement of fi nancial position
Derivative fi nancial instruments  -  3,438  2,842  - 
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  67,368  -  -  - 
Cash and cash equivalents  4,467  -  -  - 
Bond deposits on trust  2,700  -  -  - 
Term receivables  4,039  -  -  - 
Other investments  -  -  -  - 

 78,574  3,438  2,842  - 

Liabilities 
at fair value

through 
profi t or 

loss

Derivatives
used for
hedging

Other 
fi nancial

liabilities at
amortised

cost

31 March 2010 $000 $000 $000

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position
Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  142,943 
Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  261,206 
Unsecured senior bonds  -  -  137,518 
Derivative fi nancial instruments  6,224  -  - 
Trade and other payables  -  -  102,748 

 6,224  -  644,415 

31 March 2009

Liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position
Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  284,973 
Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  260,671 
Derivative fi nancial instruments  10,803  4,496  - 
Trade and other payables  -  -  77,654 

 10,803  4,496  623,298 
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STATUTORY INFORMATION
INTERESTS REGISTER

The Company is required to maintain an Interests Register in which particulars of certain transactions and matters involving the Directors must be recorded.

The matters set out below were recorded in the Interests Register of the Company during the fi nancial year.

GENERAL NOTICE OF INTEREST BY DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company have declared interests in the following identifi ed entities as at 31 March 2010.

Director Interest Entity

Bruce James Harker Director TrustPower Metering Limited

 Director Morrison Capital Limited

 Director Victoria Electricity Pty Ltd

 Director Infratil Energy Australia Pty Ltd

Ronald Powell Carter Director Rugby New Zealand 2011 Limited

 Director Rural Equities Limited

 Chairman Committee for Auckland

 Member National Infrastructure Advisory Board

Michael James Cooney Trustee Tauranga Energy Consumer Trust

 Director TECT Holdings Limited

 Partner Cooney Lees & Morgan

 Director TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited

 Director TrustPower Insurance Limited

 Director Tararua Wind Power Limited

 Director Cobb Power Limited

Ian Samuel Knowles Chief Executive Kiwibank Limited

 Director Banking Ombudsman Scheme Limited

 Director Kiwi Insurance Limited

 Director The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited

 Director Kiwibank Nominees Limited

 Director  New Zealand Home Lending Limited

 Director  AMP Home Loans Limited

 Director St James Theatre Limited

 Director KB Custodial Services Limited

 Director  Kiwibank Investment Management Limited

 Director NZ Bankers Association

 Trustee Te Omanga Hospice

Hugh Richmond Lloyd Morrison Director Auckland International Airport Limited

 Director Infratil Limited and certain Infratil Limited Subsidiaries

 Director Morse Media Limited

 Director Fisher Funds Management Limited

 Director Hettinger Nominees Limited

 Director nzxsports.com Limited

 Director Tullamore Management Limited

 Chairman H.R.L. Morrison & Co Group Limited and its Subsidiaries

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier Director Farrier Swier Consulting Pty Ltd

 Director Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd

 Director Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd

 Director TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd

 Director TrustPower Renewable Investments Pty Ltd

Marko Bogoievski Director Zig Zag Farm Limited

 Director Victoria Electricity Pty Ltd

 Director Infratil Energy Australia Pty Ltd

 Director Infratil Limited and certain Infratil Limited Subsidiaries

 Director HRL Morrison & Co Private Markets Limited

 Chief Executive Infratil Limited

 Alternate Director  Fisher Funds Management Limited 

 Alternate Director Auckland International Airport Limited
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INFORMATION USED BY DIRECTORS

During the fi nancial year there were no notices from Directors of the Company requesting to disclose or use Company information received in their capacity as 
Directors which would not otherwise have been available to them.

DIRECTORS HOLDING OFFICE AND THEIR REMUNERATION

The Directors holding offi ce as at 31 March 2010 and during the year to 31 March 2010 are listed below. The total amount of the remuneration and other benefi ts 
received by each Director, and each former Director during the fi nancial year, and responsibility held, is listed next to their names.

Director Remuneration Responsibility Held

Bruce James Harker $130,000 Chairman
  Non-executive Director
  Member of Audit Committee
  Member of Remuneration Committee
  Member of Share Buyback Committee

Ronald Powell Carter $75,000 Independent Director
  Member of Audit Committee
  Member of Share Buyback Committee

Hugh Richmond Lloyd Morrison $65,000 Non-executive Director

Michael James Cooney $65,000 Non-executive Director
  Member of Share Buyback Committee

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier  $109,990 Independent Director
  Chairman of Audit Committee
  Member of Remuneration Committee

Ian Samuel Knowles $65,000 Independent Director

Marko Bogoievski1 Nil Alternate Director 

1 Alternate Director for HRL Morrison appointed 26 February 2009

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

During the fi nancial year the Company paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors’ and certain executive employees’ liability insurance, as permitted by the 
Company’s Constitution and the Companies Act 1993. The policies do not specify the premium for individuals. This insurance extends to Directors and certain 
executive employees acting in the capacity of a director or on behalf of a subsidiary or related company.

The Directors’ and executive employees’ liability insurance provides cover against costs and expenses involved in defending legal actions and any resulting 
payments arising from a liability to persons (other than the Company or a related body corporate) incurred in their capacity as Director or executive employee 
unless the conduct involves a wilful breach of duty or an improper use of inside information or position to gain advantage.

The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity in respect of each Director, the Chief Executive, Chief Financial Offi cer and Company Secretary, Strategic 
Business Development Manager, Generation Manager, Energy Sales Manager and Trading and Risk Manager whereby each such Director and executive employee 
is indemnifi ed against the types of liability and costs described above, as permitted by the Company’s Constitution and the Companies Act 1993.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANY DIRECTORS

Set out below are details of the Directors of TrustPower’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2010. 

Director as at 31 March 2010 TrustPower Group Company

Bruce James Harker TrustPower Metering Limited

Michael James Cooney Tararua Wind Power Limited
 Cobb Power Limited
 TrustPower Insurance Limited
 TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited

Tamaroa Raymond Nikora  Waikaremoana Power Limited

Rangi Tumoana Manuel Waikaremoana Power Limited

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd
 TrustPower Renewable Investments Pty Ltd
 Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd
 Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd

Christopher John O’Hara1 Tararua Wind Power Limited2

 Cobb Power Limited2

 TrustPower Metering Limited2

 TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited2

 TrustPower Insurance Limited2

 Bay Energy Limited2

 Paehinahina Mourea Geothermal Limited2

 Taheke Geothermal Limited2

 Waikaremoana Power Limited2

 TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd2

 TrustPower Oamaru Limited2

 TrustPower Renewable Investments Pty Ltd2

 Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd2

 Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd2

1 Appointed 11 December 2009
2 KN Tempest resigned as a director of these subsidiary companies effective 11 December 2009

No Directors’ fees or other benefi ts were paid in relation to these Directorships during the fi nancial year. The remuneration and other benefi ts received by 
employees acting as Directors of subsidiaries during the fi nancial year is disclosed in the relevant bandings for employee remuneration. 
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GENERAL NOTICE OF INTERESTS BY DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

Director Interest Entity

Bruce James Harker*

Michael James Cooney*

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier*

Christopher John O’Hara Acting Chief Executive TrustPower Limited
 Director Oz Energy Pty Ltd
 Director Chrysalis Holdings Limited

*Refer General Notice of Interests by Directors

INFORMATION USED BY DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the fi nancial year there were no notices from Directors of subsidiary companies requesting to disclose or use subsidiary company information received in 
their capacity as Directors which would not otherwise have been available to them.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION

During the fi nancial year the number of employees or former employees (including employees holding offi ce as Directors of subsidiaries) who received remuneration 
and other benefi ts in their capacity as employees of the Company, the value of which was or exceeded $100,000 per annum was as follows:

Remuneration Ranges Number of Employees Remuneration Ranges Number of Employees

$100,000 – 109,999 14 $220,000 – 229,999 1

$110,000 – 119,999 7 $230,000 – 239,999 -

$120,000 – 129,999 7 $240,000 – 249,999 1

$130,000 – 139,999 4 $310,000 – 319,999 1

$140,000 – 149,999 2 $360,000 – 369,999 1

$150,000 – 159,999 1 $400,000 – 409,999 1

$160,000 – 169,999 2 $410,000 – 419,999 1

$170,000 – 179,999 - $530,000 – 539,999 1

$180,000 – 189,999 2 $550,000 – 559,999 1

$190,000 – 199,999 3 $570,000 – 579,999 1

$200,000 – 209,999 1 $1,160,000 – 1,169,999 1

$210,000 – 219,999 2

DIRECTORS’ TRANSACTIONS AND RELEVANT INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The relevant interests of Directors in securities of the Company as at 31 March 2010 are listed below together with transactions by Directors in securities of the 
Company during the fi nancial year.

Director
Number Acquired/

(Disposed)
$ Amount Paid/

(Received) Date
Class of
Security

Number
Held at

31 March 2010

Number
Held at

31 March 2009

BJ and JS Harker Family Trust (benefi cial) - - - Bonds 203,000 203,000

4,200 32,338 4 June 2009 Shares

4,341 32,500 13 November 2009 Shares 16,749 8,208

RP Carter Family Trusts (non benefi cial) - - - Bonds 150,000 150,000

2,423 18,656 4 June 2009 Shares

2,504 18,750 13 November 2009 Shares 9,663 4,736

MJ Cooney (benefi cial) 2,100 16,169 4 June 2009 Shares

2,170 16,250 13 November 2009 Shares 9,374 5,104

MJ Cooney (non benefi cial) - - - Bonds 150,000 150,000

MJ Cooney (non benefi cial) - - - Shares 103,878,838 103,878,838

IS Knowles (non benefi cial) 100,000 100,000 22 December 2009 Bonds 100,000 NIL

IS Knowles (benefi cial) 2,100 16,169 4 June 2009 Shares

2,170 16,250 13 November 2009 Shares 8,374 4,104

HRL Morrison (non benefi cial) - - - Shares 159,215,388 159,215,388

Hettinger Nominees Limited (benefi cial) 2,100 16,169 4 June 2009 Shares

2,170 16,250 13 November 2009 Shares 8,374 4,104

Swier Family Trust (benefi cial) 3,688 28,396 4 June 2009 Shares

3,788 28,363 13 November 2009 Shares 14,230 6,754

The non benefi cial shares recorded for MJ Cooney are held in his capacity as a Director of TECT Holdings Limited

The non benefi cial bonds recorded for MJ Cooney are held in his capacity as Trustee for an estate and a private trust.

The shares held benefi cially by MJ Cooney include shares held in own name and via a family trust.

The non benefi cial shares recorded for HRL Morrison are held in his capacity as a Director of Infratil Limited.

HRL Morrison is a shareholder of Hettinger Nominees Limited.

The interests disclosed for RP Carter relate to non benefi cial interests held through three family trusts.

The interests disclosed as bonds for IS Knowles are in relation to a power of attorney held by IS Knowles.

The Company was not advised of any other security transactions by any Director during the year.
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Security Holder Information
SUBSTANTIAL SECURITY HOLDERS

The Company’s register of substantial security holders, prepared in accordance with Section 26 of the Securities Markets Act 1988 recorded the following 
information at 3 May 2010. 

As at 3 May 2010, TrustPower Limited has 315,751,872 ordinary shares on issue.

Security Holder Class of Security Number

Infratil Limited Shares 159,215,388

TECT Holdings Limited Shares 103,878,838

SPREAD OF HOLDERS (AS AT 3 MAY 2010)

Shares Holders % Shares %

1 to 999     1,432 10.61%       672,229 0.21%

1,000 to 1,999     1,991 14.75%     2,405,815 0.76%

2,000 to 4,999     8,953 66.31%    20,834,235 6.60%

5,000 to 9,999       734 5.44%     4,684,448 1.48%

10,000 to 49,999       342 2.53%     5,475,939 1.73%

50,000 to 99,999        18 0.13%     1,201,687 0.38%

100,000 to 499,999        19 0.14%     3,855,480 1.22%

500,000 to 999,999         4 0.03%     2,850,002 0.90%

1,000,000 plus         8 0.06%   273,772,037 86.72%

13,501 100.00% 315,751,872 100.00%

Subordinated Bonds Holders %
Subordinated

Bonds %

1 to 999 - 0.00%   -  0.00%

1,000 to 1,999       - 0.00% - 0.00%

2,000 to 4,999 4 0.07%      11,000 0.00%

5,000 to 9,999 704 12.06%    3,978,000 1.51%

10,000 to 49,999 3,892 66.66%  80,683,000 30.64%

50,000 to 99,999 844 14.45%   48,387,000 18.38%

100,000 to 499,999 354 6.06%    51,495,000 19.56%

500,000 to 999,999 21 0.36%    11,904,000 4.52%

1,000,000 plus 20 0.34%    66,847,000 25.39%

    5,839 100.00%   263,305,000 100.00%

Senior Bonds Holders % Senior Bonds %

1 to 999 - 0.00% - 0.00%

1,000 to 1,999 - 0.00% - 0.00%

2,000 to 4,999         1 0.04%       2,000 0.00%

5,000 to 9,999       399 14.65%   2,132,000 1.52%

10,000 to 49,999     1,809 66.44%   33,749,000 24.11%

50,000 to 99,999       312 11.46%   16,706,000 11.93%

100,000 to 499,999       179 6.57%   23,992,000 17.14%

500,000 to 999,999         8 0.29%    4,746,000 3.39%

1,000,000 plus        15 0.55%   58,673,000 41.91%

    2,723 100.00% 140,000,000 100.00%

Shares Holders % Shares %

New Zealand      13,225 97.96%   313,482,630 99.28%

Australia         189 1.40%     2,095,295 0.66%

United Kingdom          29 0.21%        52,501 0.02%

United States of America          16 0.12%        31,718 0.01%

Other          42 0.31%        89,728 0.03%

13,501 100.00% 315,571,872 100.00%

Subordinated Bonds Holders %
Subordinated 

Bonds %

New Zealand 5,772 98.85% 260,107,000 98.78%

Australia 20 0.34% 608,000 0.23%

United States of America 10 0.17% 399,000 0.15%

United Kingdom 11 0.19% 173,000 0.07%

Other 26 0.45% 2,018,000 0.77%

5,839 100.00% 263,305,000 100.00%
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VOTING RIGHTS

Every shareholder present in person, by proxy or by representative, on a vote by voices or a show of hands has one vote, and on a poll has one vote for each fully 
paid share held.

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

The Company’s shares and subordinated bonds are listed on the NZSX and NZDX, respectively.

CURRENT CREDIT RATING STATUS

TrustPower does not currently have an external credit rating.

CURRENT NZX WAIVERS

NZX has granted a waiver dated 23 March 2006 from NZSX Listing Rule 8.1.7 (change of option exercise price or number of underlying securities) to enable the 
Company to issue options under the Company’s Executive Share Option Plan dated 28 February 2006 (as amended on 12 May 2006) in accordance with the 
exercise price formula contained in the Rules of the Plan. That exercise price formula permits the exercise price to be recalculated on a daily basis which may not 
be permitted by Listing Rule 8.1.7. The waiver has been granted on the condition that options outstanding issued under the Plan do not exceed 1% of the total 
shares of the Company. This waiver was varied on 6 July 2006 to permit TrustPower to vary the exercise price of Options issued on 29 May 2006 by amending the 
formula to permit the dividend with a record date of 26 May 2006 to be included in the calculation of the exercise price, notwithstanding that the record date of 
such dividends was prior to the issue date of the Options.

NZX DISCIPLINARY ACTION

There has been no action taken by NZX in relation to the Company under Listing Rule 5.4.2.

LARGEST SECURITY HOLDERS (AS AT 3 MAY 2009)

Rank Holder Name Shares %

1 Infratil Limited 159,215,388 50.42%

2 TECT Holdings Limited 103,878,838 32.90%

3 Custodial Services Limited A/C 3 3,138,552 0.99%

4 AMP Investments Strategic Equity Growth Fund* 1,883,403 0.60%

5 Citibank Nominees (New Zealand) Limited* 1,702,007 0.54%

6 New Zealand Superannuation Fund Nominees Limited* 1,670,163 0.53%

7 Premier Nominees Ltd -ING Wholesale Australasian Share Fund* 1,279,240 0.41%

8 National Nominees New Zealand Limited* 1,004,446 0.32%

9 Custodial Services Limited A/C 2 951,957 0.30%

10 NZGT Nominees Limited - AIF Equity Fund* 761,374 0.24%

11 Custodial Services Limited A/C 1 578,201 0.18%

12 FNZ Custodians Limited 558,470 0.18%

13 Accident Compensation Corporation* 472,003 0.15%

14 Brett Anthony Hart 400,000 0.13%

15 Custodial Services Limited A/C 4 395,536 0.13%

16 ASB Nominees Limited 373317 Ml A/C 272,250 0.09%

17 New Zealand Equity Nominee Pool* 213,839 0.07%

18 Custodial Services Limited A/C 9 206,220 0.07%

19 Custodial Services Limited A/C 6 191,390 0.06%

20 Guardian Trust Investment Nominees (RWT) Limited* 161,509 0.05%

278,934,786 88.36%

* These names are registered in the name of New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited.

Rank Holder Name
Subordinated 

Bonds %

1 Custodial Services Limited A/C 3 21,439,000 8.14%

2 FNZ Custodians Limited 7,918,000 3.01%

3 Custodial Services Limited A/C 2 6,860,000 2.61%

4 Investment Custodial Services Limited 4,444,000 1.69%

5 TEA Custodians Limited* 2,860,000 1.09%

6 Eastern Central Community Trust Inc 2,750,000 1.04%

7 NZ Guardian Trust Investment Nominees Limited* 2,290,000 0.87%

8 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited 1 M 2,245,000 0.85%

9 Custodial Services Limited A/C 1 2,149,000 0.82%

10 Custodial Services Limited A/C 4 2,140,000 0.81%

11 Sterling Holdings Limited 1,877,000 0.71%

12 Presbyterian Savings & Development Society Of NZ Inc 1,250,000 0.47%

13 Private Nominees Limited Residents A/C 1,250,000 0.47%

14 NZPT Custodians (Grosvenor) Limited* 1,207,000 0.46%

15 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited Account 1 L 1,168,000 0.44%

16 Carter Holt Harvey Retirement Plan 1,000,000 0.38%

17 F S Investments Limited 1,000,000 0.38%

18 New Zealand Methodist Trust Association 1,000,000 0.38%

19 Palmerston North City Council 1,000,000 0.38%

20 Faith Priscilla Taylor & Andrew Thomas Taylor 1,000,000 0.38%

66,847,000 25.38%

* These names are registered in the name of New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited.
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